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About Us

At Tadvest Limited, our primary objective has always 
been investing in attractive, high growth, cash 
generative assets. We provide investors with  
a combination of sustainable capital and income 
growth through a portfolio that consists of private  
equity investments, listed investments and 
investment properties.

Diversity is Key to our Growth

By providing our investors with a diversified 
portfolio of assets, we are able to offer them global 
exposure in tandem with a range of premium assets 
across a spread of top-performing sectors. 
Currently, we are invested in South Africa, DRC, 
Poland, Finland, Australia, Sweden and North 
America.

Our Unique Global Position

We are uniquely positioned to invest globally 
through our primary listing on the Stock Exchange 
of Mauritius and our secondary listing on the 
Namibian Stock Exchange. Our dual-listed 
structure with its associated capital allocation 
flexibility provides an unparalleled platform for 
our investors to take advantage of unique global 
opportunities that meet our investment criteria.

Group OverviewGroup Overview

LivinnX Krakow
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Vision

Our vision is to emerge as a leading diversified 
investment holding company by focusing  
on investments with high growth potential  
across the globe.

Mission

Our mission is to create sustainable growth for 
our shareholders by building up and investing 
into a diversified portfolio of assets that provides 
sustainable capital and investment income growth.

Corporate Values

We believe that the return on investment is directly 
linked to the corporate values of a particular 
business. The commitment to fostering corporate 
values influences growth and delivers significant 
long-term value to our shareholders and partners.

Group
Structure

Group Overview

To us real 
business 
growth lies 
beyond 
balance 
sheets

Group Overview

Country Mushrooms
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1 million m2

totalling EPP’s current  
property portfolio

Group OverviewGroup Overview

While the Board is responsible for the management 
of the Company and its asset portfolio, it has 
delegated certain key duties to two primary service 
providers being investment advisors, administrators 
and company secretary. The Company governs the 
relationship with the external service providers 
through service level agreements. 

External 
Service
Providers

EPP
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Group Overview Group Overview

It is with pleasure that I present Tadvest Limited’s 
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 
2020 and to summarise the developments within 
the Company’s portfolio of investments during  
a year where the Covid-19 pandemic has taken  
an historic humanitarian and economic toll on almost 
every nation around the globe. The diversified 
portfolio of assets which Tadvest owns has proven 
its resilience in an environment of closed 
economies, restriction of movement and travel, 
and highly volatile financial markets. Taking this 
backdrop into account the Company’s Net Asset 
Value per share decreased by 4.2% in US dollar 
terms over the year with the Covid-19 global 
pandemic impacting our investments in varying 
degrees. To get more detail on this I direct you  
to the Portfolio Overview report which gives  
an in-depth look at the performance and positioning 
of the portfolio at year end. 

During the year Tadvest made two significant 
investments of note. Firstly, a commitment was 
made to the Polish focused warehousing and 
logistics development fund, Trademarc Property 
Fund. The Fund was set up to capitalize  
on development and property trading opportunities 
in Poland along with strong in-country partners. 
The resilient economic fundamentals of the Polish 
economy were proven once again through  
a pandemic year where the economy contracted 
at an estimate of 2.7%, significantly better than 
the European Union which saw GDP contracting 
at an estimated 6.4%. Secondly, late in the year 
the Company concluded an additional investment 

into Alaris Holdings. Alaris has weathered the 
pandemic well so far with a solid operating 
performance and has even managed to conclude  
a strategic acquisition in the UK during a year 
where international travel was highly restricted.   

The portfolio continues to have a diversified 
geographic split of investments in investment 
property, cash and liquid assets and private equity. 
Sufficient cash resources have been maintained 
within the portfolio to support growth initiatives 
in existing investments as well as to invest in new 
opportunities which align with our investment 
philosophy.

Despite a slight decrease in the NAV of the 
Company during the year we are pleased with 
the pliability that the portfolio has shown in 2020. 
While a significant amount of uncertainty remains 
regarding the year ahead as economies around 
the globe move in and out of lockdown we are 
confident that the Company’s investments are 
well placed to navigate the difficult economic and 
financial conditions and take opportunities as and 
when they arise.

Chairman’s Report
Deva Marianen

Deva Marianen 
Director 
12 April 2021

We are 
pleased 
with the 
resilience 
that the 
portfolio has 
shown in 
2020

Rosebank Towers
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Board of DorectorsBoard of Directors

Board of Directors

Deva Marianen
Executive Director

Ian Chambers
Executive Director

Chris Neser
Non-Executive Director

Mike Gray
Non-Executive Director

Dave Savage
Non-Executive Director

Deva is an Economist, Chartered Secretary, administrator 
and the founder of the SAFYR Group. He specialises  
in Capital Markets with a strong focus on Private Equity, 
serving as an advisor to several large institutions and 
family offices. Throughout his career, he has led various 
mergers and acquisitions globally, while also assisting 
large multinationals and ultra-high net worth individuals 
to consolidate their international businesses in a tax and 
exchange control efficient manner. 

Prior to Ian’s emigration to Mauritius in 2008, Ian was 
extensively involved in the property and industrial sector  
in South Africa, by virtue of his position as tax partner 
at FHS Chartered Accountants, Head of Project and 
Structured Finance at Credit Agricole Bank and tax partner 
at Routledge Modise Attorneys up to January 2008. Ian has 
an international consulting company providing advice  
on business advisory, tax,  and exchange control matters. 

Chris has over 7 years’ experience in investment advisory 
and strategic involvement in Operating Entities, Asset 
Management and Group Restructuring. He has been 
extensively involved on boards of various investment 
entities with experience in hedge funds and unit trusts, 
including the listing of the Pivotal Fund in 2014 and Tadvest 
Limited in 2016. Chris completed his studies in accounting 
at the University of Stellenbosch in 2010 and qualified  
as a CA(SA) in 2013.

Mike is a qualified CA(SA), FCMA and CGMA and was Group 
Audit Manager at Anglo American HO and Ithala Bank 
between 1981 and 1985. He then started Gray Harlow,  
a public accounting practice in 1985 and co-founded 
Federal Air, an air charter company, in 1987. He co-founded 
SA Express Airways (SAX) and was CFO from 1992  
to 1998, when he and his partners sold to SAA. He then 
joined Uniglobe Travel International as master licensor 
and CEO for Africa in 1999 until 2015, moving the African 
regional office from South Africa to Mauritius in 2008.

Dave has 30 years of experience in the property industry, 
25 of which have been dedicated to the growth of the Abcon 
Group. Dave has been involved in all aspects of Abland 
becoming a national property development company active 
in all industry sectors. He was also integrally involved  
in the formation and listing of the Pivotal Fund. Dave 
currently serves as CEO of the Abcon group of companies.
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Portfolio
Overview

Portfolio OverviewPortfolio Overview

LivinnX Krakow
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Who We Are

Tadvest Limited is a globally focused investment 
holding company with a diverse asset base 
spread across various sectors and regions. Our 
Gross Asset Value (GAV) at the end of 2020 was 
USD 88.5million while the Net Asset Value (NAV) 
was USD 57.6 million. Tadvest seeks to drive the 
intrinsic value growth and the income growth 
from its investments in a sustainable manner over 
the long term. Free cash flow generated within 
investments is used to reinvest in the competitive 
advantage of these investments, or where 
appropriate, distributed to shareholders.

The major investments which Tadvest holds 
in the portfolio as at 31 December 2020 are:

1. High quality investment property 
 (commercial and mixed use)  
2. Trakka Systems (aerospace) 
3. Alaris Holdings (RF technology)  
4. Cash and Money Market investments  
5. Fruitvest (fruit processor and global trader) 
6. EPP (listed Polish retail property company) 
7. Alphamin Resources (tin miner) 
8. Country Mushrooms (mushroom producer) 
9. Topshell (engineering workshops and rental) 
10. LivinnX Krakow (Polish PBSA) 
11. Kemtek (distributor of leading technology)

Net Asset Value Breakdown

Our Objective

Our long-term objective is to create a sustainable 
increase in wealth for Tadvest’s shareholders 
through the growth in the intrinsic value  
of a diversified portfolio of global investments. 
Tadvest targets a compounded annual growth rate 
of 12% of its NAV in USD terms over the long term. 

 
Our Investment Philosophy

The Company’s investment philosophy is to identify 
and invest in assets, both in the unlisted and listed 
space, with the following investment criteria:

1. A skilled and experienced management team  
 with integrity, an excellent work ethic and skin  
 in the game; 

2. Strong business fundamentals, a defensible  
 moat and a proven track record; 

3. Highly cash generative exhibiting the ability  
 to  turn profits into cash for reinvestment  
          or return to shareholders;

4. High projected growth emanating from  
          a combination of operations in attractive   
 sectors (strong demand and high barriers  
          to entry) and relative competitive advantages  
 within those sectors; and

5. Synergies with other investments within the  
 portfolio.

Tadvest’s approach is to partner with the existing 
management team of the business to put in place  
a strategy to harness long term sustainable capital 
and investment income growth which benefits all 
the stakeholders of the company. 

Tadvest is a long-term investor and values 
partnership with management and other key 
stakeholders in driving the strategic vision  
of the companies which it is invested in. Tadvest 
has no defined investment time horizon but will 
consider an exit from an investment should  
it be deemed as opportune and in the best  
interest of Tadvest shareholders. 

Portfolio in Review

Tadvest ‘s NAV per share fell 4.2% from USD 1.34 
per share at 31 December 2019 to USD 1.28 per 
share at 31 December 2020. The Covid-19 global 
pandemic impacted Tadvest’s investments in varying 
degrees, however the diversity, resilience and 
underlying quality of the investments resulted  
in only a muted decline in Tadvest’s NAV in 2020. 
There were substantial movements in currency 
markets throughout the year with the overall 
currency impact on the change in the NAV over  
the year being -1.6%. The rand weakened against 
the US dollar, however the Euro and the Australian 
dollar were both stronger against the US dollar 
over the year. 

The underlying currencies which Tadvest’s 
portfolio of assets are invested in as a percentage  
of Tadvest’s NAV are as follows, 40% in South 
African rands, 35% in US dollars, 12% in euros,  
13% in Australian dollars. The NAV waterfall  
graph shows the movements in valuation of the 
subcomponents within the portfolio during the year. 
Reduced private equity valuations, particularly  
in the South African portfolio as well as declines  
in the listed portfolio (mostly EPP) and the currency 
impact from a weaker Rand contributed negatively 
to the change in the NAV. Improvements in the  
SA property portfolio due to a resilient performance 
of the assets contributed positively to the change  
in the NAV.

 
Portfolio in Review

On page 21 the breakdown is shown of Tadvest’s 
portfolio based on which countries the underlying 
portfolio companies or assets have their operations 
in, as well as where these companies or assets 
earn their revenue from. The intention of these 
graphs is to show firstly the exposure to a specific 
country from an operational point of view and 
secondly to understand the exposure of revenue 
streams within the portfolio. Global in the graphs 
refers to a variety of countries mostly in Europe, 
Asia and Australasia.  
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The Covid-19 pandemic affected in some way  
or another all the companies and assets in the 
Tadvest portfolio. The top priority across our 
businesses was firstly to ensure that the 
management and staff followed the necessary 
health and safety protocols for their own wellbeing 
and to limit the spread of the virus. Intense focus 
on cost control and cash flow management across 
the portfolio of businesses and properties led  
to many of our investments not only surviving when 
a number of competitors closed their doors, but  
we believe finishing the year in a stronger position.  

The core focus remains on the following elements 
for each portfolio company and investment:

1. Cash generation

2. Sustainable and profitable operating   
 performance

3. Long term strategic planning

4. Growth forecast and capital allocation plans

5. Scalability and diversification

6. Succession planning and management   
 alignment with various strategies

During the year two significant investments were 
made in the portfolio. Firstly, an investment was 
made in the Polish focused warehousing and 
logistics development fund, Trademarc Property 
Fund. The Fund was set up to capitalize  
on development and property trading opportunities 

in Poland along with European partners Panattoni 
Europe and Griffin Real Estate.

Towards the end of the year an additional investment 
was made in the JSE AltX listed company, Alaris 
Holdings taking Tadvest’s shareholding to 28.3%  
in the company. Alaris has weathered the pandemic 
well with a solid operating performance and strong 
cash generation during the year despite the strict 
lockdown restrictions in much of South Africa, 
Europe and the US. We continue to see good 
growth prospects for the company as it makes 
strategic acquisitions to broaden and strengthen 
its product portfolio.    

With extraordinarily tough economic conditions 
impacting the South African property market, 
where the bulk of Tadvest’s property assets are 
located, it is pleasing to report a slight increase 
in the value of the property portfolio in constant 
currency terms in 2020. With a 5% weakening  
of the rand against the US dollar during the year 
the overall property portfolio NAV was more or less 
flat in US dollar terms. Major milestones included 
the commencement of the top structure at the 
Hertford Gym which will include the new Flexi Life 
concept, the completion of the Waterfall Ridge 
Retail centre in March 2021, as well as the opening 
of the commercial offices at Menlyn Central in 
March 2020. Tadvest’s portfolio of properties are 
predominately based in resilient precincts and 
nodes and was well positioned to weather the 
Covid-19 pandemic with some of the highest rental 
collections rates across the industry.

Portfolio OverviewPortfolio Overview

Change in Tadvest NAV in USD cents

Currency Exposure based on NAV

Country Exposure based on 
Underlying Assets’ Operations

Sector Exposure based on NAV 

Region Exposure based on 
Underlying Assets’ Revenue
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Tadvest is continuously on the lookout for 
investments which meet our strict investment 
criteria. Efforts over the coming years will  
be focused on making investments which 
demonstrate defensible moats, have strong  
and reliable management and possess the ability 
to generate substantial amounts of cash over time. 
These will include businesses and investments 
geared for long term growth and exposed to longer 
term secular growth trends in global markets.  

Notwithstanding new potential investments, most 
of the current investments in the Tadvest portfolio 
are poised for solid expected growth in the years 
ahead. Substantial investments have been and 
continue to be made in many of the businesses  
and properties which will hopefully cause a further 
cementing of their market position and ultimately 
sustainable growth in their markets. In Tadvest’s 
aerospace and technology segment examples  
of these investments include Trakka’s investment 
into becoming the only global manufacturer  
of a total mission system (incorporating cameras, 
searchlights, mapping and controllers) and Alaris’ 
investments in enhancing and integrating RF 
electronics into their antennas. 

Within the food and agriculture businesses 
Country Mushrooms continues to invest into new 
technology and facilities to cement their position 
as a top mushroom producer and Fruitvest 
continues to upgrade their operations and has 
strengthened their global trading capabilities. 
Alphamin’s continued development of the Mpama 
North mine and exploration of the Mpama South 
resource. Much activity is also evident in Tadvest’s 
smaller portfolio investments of Topshell, which 
has invested steadily in their engineered movable 
solutions and rental fleet, as well as Kemtek 
which has rationalized the business and refined 
its focus in the digital, commercial and additive 
manufacturing divisions. 

Tadvest’s property portfolio’s resilience over 
the past year is testament to the quality of the 
buildings, nodes and tenants evident in the 
portfolio. In order to maintain the competitive 
advantages of the buildings, ongoing focus  
is on utility management, security, energy use  
and sustainability of the properties in the portfolio. 

Portfolio OverviewPortfolio Overview

Breakdown of Investment 
 Property Exposure

Breakdown of Cash &  
Liquid Assets’ Exposure

Fruitvest
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Tadvest’s Net Asset Value of USD57.6 million is made 
up of a group of diverse yet focused cash & liquid 
investments: 15%, investment property: 32% and 
portfolio companies: 53%. The overall portfolio  
is continually analysed and refined to ensure that 
each investment meets the investment criteria 
and has a clear path to growth. Over time the cash 
will be deployed into new high growth investments 
which add synergistic benefits or diversity to the 
overall portfolio.

Investment
Overview

Investment Overview Investment Overview

Net Asset Breakdown based on NAV

 C
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10.1%
in growth over  
the past year

Trakka Systems

Trakka Systems is the only original equipment 
manufacturer to design a comprehensive 
vision-enhancement solution for all air, land, 
and maritime missions. Our unparalleled total 
system solution approach offers a customizable 
range of user-friendly equipment, such as high-
intensity tactical searchlights, integrated mapping 
management software, and gyro-stabilized day/
night cameras with thermal imaging, U.V. detection, 
and infrared capabilities. With personalized 
equipment training and direct access to our 
technical support team and responsive service 
centers, know that your mission will always  
be our top priority. The Trakka Group’s extensive 
engineering capabilities, AS9100D and FAA-PMA 
manufacturing facilities, and FAA/EASA 145 repair 
stations deliver fast time-to-market solutions with 
superior customer support worldwide

trakkasystems.com
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60 000
scuba scooters
made this year

Investment OverviewInvestment Overview

Trakka Tech 

Trakka Tech primarily focuses on providing 
customers with a world-class range of specialised 
mission solutions. It has entered into strategic 
partnerships with a select number of esteemed 
brands to distribute a range of best-in-breed 
technology and equipment for maritime, air  
or land mission requirements. Tailored specifically 
for Defense Forces, Special Forces and the HLS 
market, their high-end tactical mission systems 
and products help deliver superior solutions.

www.trakkatech.com

Experts 
in tactical
maritime
operations.
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763
radio antennas
installed

Alaris Holdings

alarisholdings.com

Investment OverviewInvestment Overview

Alaris Holdings, founded in 1997, is a global radio 
frequency (“RF”) technology holding and investment 
company focused on developing its own products 
and retaining its own IP. The entity provides 
technologically advanced solutions and products 
to customers across multiple markets from 
defence, aviation, marine and wireless, to industrial,  
healthcare, research communities and 
governmental institutes. A customer centric 
approach across all its subsidiaries, emphasizes 
the Group’s strategic objective of being a trusted 
technical advisor and partner in the RF technology 
domain. The Group has been listed on the JSE AltX 
since July 2008.

The Alaris Group consists of the following entities:

Alaris Antennas, headquartered in Centurion, 
South Africa, designs, develops, manufactures 
and sells state-of-the-art, specialised broadband 
antennas and other related RF products used 
in the communication, frequency spectrum 
monitoring, testing and measurement, electronic 
warfare and other specialised markets. Its 
client base, consisting of system integrators, 
frequency spectrum regulators and players 
in the homeland security space, is located 
across the globe – mostly outside of South 
Africa – in the Americas, Europe and Asia.

COJOT, founded in 1986 and located in Espoo, 
Finland, serves military and public safety 
markets globally. With more than 30 years 
of experience, COJOT designs, develops and 
manufactures innovative broadband antennas 
that improve the connectivity, coverage and 
competitiveness of radio equipment deployed 
to save lives and protect property.

mWAVE, based in Windham, Maine in the United 
States, is a leading global provider of advanced 
custom and commercial microwave antenna 
solutions. The company was established in 2004  
and designs and manufactures standard and 
custom microwave antenna products for 
commercial and government applications spanning 
the scientific, defence and academic communities.

Alaris USA, trading as a division of mWAVE 
Industries and based in Windham, Maine, sells 
and supports specialised antennas and other RF 
related products designed by COJOT and Alaris 
Antennas to its customer base in North America. 
Its products are used in the communication, 
frequency spectrum monitoring, testing and 
measurement, counter unmanned aircraft systems 
(UAS), electronic warfare and other specialised 
markets. Like COJOT and Alaris Antennas, Alaris 
USA clients are system integrators, frequency 
spectrum regulators, government end users 
and players in the homeland security space.

Linwave Technology, founded in 2003 and based 
in Lincoln, UK, is a leading supplier of novel custom 
RF & Microwave electronics products across 
multiple markets from defence, avionics, marine 
and wireless, to industrial and healthcare. The 
company provides unique and bespoke solutions  
to customers through their world-class team  
of engineers and system designers, as well as their 
manufacturing capabilities. Linwave designs and 
manufactures microwave/RF components and 
subsystems in a seamless “concept to finished 
product” process.  Linwave’s design team utilises 
state-of-the-art microwave simulation tools  
for circuit modelling and optimisation to provide 
the robust product solutions their customers 
demand.  Full test and extensive measurement 
capabilities allow the manufacturing team  
to produce value added products that exceed  
their customers’ expectations. In addition,  
a complete in-house chip and wire assembly 
facility allows Linwave to produce differentiated 
products in the RF and microwave domain.

The Group conducts business in a socially 
responsible manner and is committed  
to sustainability efforts across its four entities, 
by involvement in different capacity of various 
projects namely the Louis Botha Children’s Home, 
SPCA, South Africa and a Care Disaster Project 
and StopRhinoPoaching. Sustainability projects 
are monitored by the Social and Ethics 
Committee of the ALH Board.
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4% 
of worldwide 
mined tin supply

Alphamin

Alphamin Resources is a low-cost tin concentrate 
producer which produces from its high-grade 
deposit at Mpama North. In addition to the Mpama 
North mining license, Alphamin has a further five 
exploration licenses covering a total of 1 270km2  

in the North Kivu Province of the Democratic 
Republic of Congo (DRC). 

Alphamin is headquartered in Mauritius and listed 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSXV: AFM) as well 
as the Johannesburg Stock Exchange AltX (JSE 
AltX: APH).

At a tin-grade of roughly 4.5%, Mpama North is the 
world’s highest-grade tin resource – about four 
times higher than most other operating tin mines 
in the world. Currently in production, the Mpama 
North mine has an output of 11 000 tonnes  
of contained tin per annum, amounting to 4% of the 
world’s mined tin supply. Alphamin is the second-
largest individual tin producer outside of China and 
Indonesia. 

Alphamin is aiming to increase annual tin output 
and life-of-mine through incremental production 
from Mpama South by adding more mines in close 
proximity to the current production as well  
as from within its licensed footprint. Alphamin’s 
management team is focused on taking the 
business to the next level as they pursue their 
objective of realising the full value potential of this 
extraordinary tin complex.

alphaminresources.com

Investment OverviewInvestment Overview

Every new 
advance in 
technology, 
propels our 
businesses 
forward.
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Fruitvest

Fruitvest is a holding company that manages two 
fruit processing plants in the Lowveld area which, 
over the years, has evolved from a small-scale 
manufacturer of frozen and preserved guava and 
mango pulps to a South African and global market 
contender.

The first of Fruitvest’s plants is Hoedspruit Fruit 
Processors, which is situated in Hoedspruit and 
focuses mainly on the production of Citrus Juice 
NFC (not from concentrate), subtropical preserved 
and frozen pulps and concentrates. Newly added 
to their range of products is Citrus Fruit cells, cold 
press oils, comminute and D Limonene.

The second plant in their portfolio is BronPro. 
Located in Nelspruit, BronPro produces high-
quality aseptically packed subtropical pulps 
and concentrates. The plant also manufactures 
concentrated, high-quality, formulated juices and 
nectars for use by industry to produce quality 
single-strength beverages as well as Citrus Juice 
NFC and concentrates. 

Fruitvest prides itself on sourcing much of its fruit 
from local farmers. By doing so, Fruitvest does 
its part in uplifting the surrounding communities, 
helping drive the local and informal agricultural 
industries in the areas surrounding their 
processing plants. 
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60 000
kilograms of 
mushrooms
produced weekly

Country Mushrooms Originally established in 1986, Country Mushrooms 
has always been in the pursuit of growing only  
the finest quality mushrooms. With the addition 
of the neighbouring Aalwyne Farm, the company 
has fast become one of the biggest and most loved 
producers of fresh mushrooms in Gauteng.

With the introduction of innovative technology, 
improved cultivation methods and expert guidance 
from top growers, the production output on the two 
farms has steadily increased over the years. 

Boasting a large, modern packhouse facility, 
all mushrooms are packed onsite before being 
distributed by a large delivery fleet covering all  
of Gauteng and many of its surrounding areas  
on a daily basis. 

Country Mushrooms recently invested in two new, 
high-tech facilities at Wattlewood Farm. These will 
house 14 new, high-tech growing rooms, which will 
begin production in November 2021. All Country 
Mushrooms facilities are fully accredited by FSSC 
22000, Global Gap & Farming for the Future.

Investment OverviewInvestment Overview

countrymushrooms.co.za
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Topshell
They now have offerings in multiple business 
sectors:

^ Healthcare:  X-ray, testing & Vaccine

^ Education: Schools

^ FMCG

^ Engineering: MCC, water purification plants,  
                             solar projects

Topshell was originally founded in Stellenbosch 
in 2006 as a container and chemical toilet hire 
company with the construction industry as its 
anchor customer. The rental fleet has grown  
to 1800 containers and, since 2014, Topshell has 
expanded capabilities to specialise in custom-built 
engineered containers and custom-build PODs.

Topshell’s in-house capabilities cover detail 
engineering design, manufacturing, and installation. 
In 2015, the company opened a branch  
in Johannesburg. 

topshell.co.za

Topshell’s in-house 
capabilities cover 
detail engineering 
design, manufacturing, 
and installation.
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5.7%
increase is 
sales

Investment OverviewInvestment Overview

Kemtek 

Technology is at the heart of everything that 
Kemtek does. Delivering fully integrated solutions 
in printing, additive manufacturing, barcoding  
and labeling, they provide businesses with  
a competitive edge for industry 4.0, backed  
by genuine expertise and an industry-leading  
post-sales support and service philosophy. 

Kemtek is constantly striving to introduce 
sustainable technologies and practices, going 
beyond the sale itself to help clients realise the  
full potential of each technological innovation. 
They liaise closely with all global principals  
to go beyond the specifications and features  
of every technology, looking at their full 
capabilities. 

The Kemtek difference can be summed up in  
a single word: commitment. They are committed 
to supporting each principal, reseller, and direct 
customer. It is a journey on which they have 
embarked with passion and confidence, and are 
always excited to see how far they can help their 
customers grow and prosper. 

kemtek.co.za
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27 000
bricks laid in
3 months

Investment PropertyInvestment Property

Investment Property As an investment category, Tadvest understands 
the tremendous value and growth opportunity 
within property. We invest and partner strategically 
with in-country property specialists where we see 
sound fundamental returns over a defined timeline. 

With a global outlook, we will continue to pursue 
opportunities within the broader category  
of property whether it be commercial,  
industrial, retail or residential.

Menlyn Central
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Hertford Office Park
Located in the heart of the sought-after Waterfall 
node, Hertford Office Park is ideally located on the 
corner of Allandale and Bekker Road and connects 
seamlessly to the N1 highway. 

Upon completion, Hertford will offer approximately 
75 000m² of premium office space surrounded  
by beautiful, landscaped gardens with access  
to a coffee shop and Planet Fitness Gym – which  
is set to open its doors in November 2021. Also set 
to be included is the new Flexi Life concept, which 
will provide premium space to lifestyle tenants 

such as physiotherapists, doctors and other related 
operators. Close amenities include South Africa’s 
biggest mall, The Mall of Africa, along with newly 
completed medical facilities, top schools and the 
Waterfall Ridge Retail Centre.

In an effort to make the space not only greener, but 
more economically viable for its tenants, Hertford 
boasts a rooftop solar plant which generates 
369.35 kilowatts of power, which is enough energy 
to power 95 houses. That’s a saving of over 604 
468kg worth of coal in CO2 emissions. 

Waterfall Ridge 
Precinct 
Created to fulfill a demand for a quality mixed-use 
precinct, Waterfall Ridge is now one of Midrand’s 
most significant retail and motorcity spaces. Now 
consisting of a prominent BMW dealership along 
with the Bridgestone head office and fitment center, 
the precinct has recently launched a new conven- 
ience retail center. The centre is anchored by  
a Food Lovers Market, Liquor City, Hi-Q, West Pack 
Lifestyle and Petzone – which will cater to both 
retail and motor clients.

Continuing the trend of greener and more cost-
efficient spaces, Waterfall Ridge has a rooftop 
solar plant which generates 973 kilowatts of power. 
This is enough to power 252 houses, saving of over 
1 524 299kg worth of coal in CO2 emissions.
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Rosebank Towers
Located opposite the prominent Firs shopping 
centre, and across the road from the exclusive 
Hyatt Regency Hotel, Rosebank Towers is primely 
located in Rosebank, a prominent hub for 
international companies. 

The development is a multi-tenanted, green-rated 
building which has its own Virgin Active Gym and 
which provides residents with premium office 
space. Just walking distances from the Mall  
of Rosebank and The Zone Shopping Centre,  
both of which offer world-class amenities, the 
Towers boasts easy access to the Gautrain station, 
the new Bus Rapid Transport System and is just 
five minutes from the M1 highway.

Westend Office Park
This A-Grade Office Park is located along the 
tranquil banks of the Hennops River in Centurion. 
The office park has been designed to cater to the 
ever-growing need of corporate tenants, providing 
excellent security, easy access to highways and 
major routes, a Flexi Suite offering for semi serviced 
office spaces and coffee shop. 

Westend is part of one of South Africa’s biggest 
insurance hubs and is also within walking distance 
of the Gautrain station as well as Centurion Mall. 
Add to this the tranquil gardens surrounding the 
space, and tenants also get to enjoy all of these 
extras in a beautiful park-like setting. 
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Centurion Junction
Primely located directly opposite the Centurion 
Gautrain Station, and in close proximity to the 
Centurion CBD and Centurion Mall, Centurion 
Junction is set to be one of the best connected 
new property developments in Gauteng. The  
property has commercial as well as residential 
potential and is currently in the rezoning process.

The full development potential is approximately  
40 000m2 of commercial and residential mixed 
development.

Menlyn Central 
Positioned in the heart of Pretoria, the Menlyn 
Central offers immaculate P-grade office space  
in one of the city’s most sought-after nodes. Situated 
just walking distance from the vibrant Menlyn Maine 
precinct, Menlyn connects businesses to everything 
the popular node has on offer, including retail 
shops, hotels, conference facilities, and gyms.

Now letting, the space has incorporated the 
latest in commercial offerings and technologies, 
including modern security systems, lower energy 
consumption and efficiently designed interiors  
to ensure greater productivity, flexibility, and lower 
overall operating costs for tenants.
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EPP
EPP is a Dutch dual-listed real estate investment 
company that follows the REIT formula regarding 
investment strategy and dividend policy. Investing 
in retail and office properties throughout Poland, 
EPP’s current portfolio includes 36 retail projects 
and office projects, totaling over 1 million m² of GLA. 

The buildings are located in 18 cities across Poland. 
These cities are characterised by their strong 
economies and the high purchasing power of their 
inhabitants. Its goal is to create Poland’s leading 
cash-generating platform of well-performing retail 
assets that will deliver consistently high returns  
to their shareholders.

Trademarc  
Property Fund 
Trademarc Property Fund is an investment fund 
that has been established to invest in and develop 
real estate in Europe. Their investment strategy 
is to pursue off-market, high capital growth real 
estate development and investment opportunities 
predominantly in Poland, with the intention  
of trading and recycling capital. 

The initial investment focus will be on the Polish 
logistics and warehousing sector in conjunction 
with local development and investment partners. 
Trademarc currently has two logistics and 
warehousing developments in Warsaw, Poland  
in progress.
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LivinnX Kraków 
LivinnX is located close to Kraków’s key colleges 
and universities and is in close proximity to the Old 
Town and the Kazimierz district, offering access  
to cultural facilities and services such as museums, 
art galleries, clubs, restaurants and the Vistula 
River embankments.

LivinnX Kraków has been developed by Golub 
GetHouse, a real estate, investment and 
development company with over 55 years  
of experience in the real estate market in the 
United States and Europe in cooperation with  
CA Ventures International, a US-based investment 
company specializing in student housing 
construction in North and South America.

LivinnX is a modern, international, private student 
housing community that was constructed as part 
of a renovation project of the former radio 
manufacturing factory building in Kraków, 
Poland.  The hall offers 710 beds available in 290 
residential units of various configurations (1, 2, 3 
and 4 persons per unit). Each unit is fully fitted out 
with a living area, kitchen, individual bedrooms and 
1 or more bathrooms.

LivinnX Kraków also offers 2000m² of various 
amenities such as specially arranged study and 
entertainment areas, a large, shared kitchen,  
a 24-hour gym, sauna, yoga room, climbing wall, 
art studio, laundry, a bicycle parking area and  
24-hour security and CCTV monitoring.

Riverfront Square
Riverfront Square is a planned 4.8-hectare, 
transit-oriented, waterfront development project 
located on the site of the former Newark Bears 
and Eagles Riverfront Stadium. The site is ideally 
located as a mixed-use development or a lower-
density residential scheme. The Lotus Equity team 
has entered into a contract to sell the asset, which 
will allow the investors to realize a successful exit 
from this investment.
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1. Governance Structure

Tadvest Limited (“Tadvest’’ or the “Company’’) has 
complied with the Code of Corporate Governance 
for Mauritius (the “Code’’) in all material respects. 
The Board recognizes the need to conduct the 
Company with integrity and in accordance 
with generally accepted corporate governance 
practices. This includes timely, relevant and 
meaningful reporting to shareholders and all other 
stakeholders and providing a proper and objective 
perspective of the company and its activities.

The Board strives to ensure that the Company  
is ethically managed according to sound corporate 
governance principles. The Board has established 
controls and procedures to ensure enhanced 
accuracy and integrity of accounting records,  
and to ensure that assets are safeguarded.

This also ensures that financial statements may  
be relied upon for maintaining accountability. 
These mechanisms and policies are reviewed 
regularly. The Board is of the view that it satisfies 
the Code through the attendance and participation 
of its investment advisor, during its deliberations 
on strategy and investment decisions regarding 
the Company and its portfolio of investments.

The Directors have the pleasure of submitting the 
Company’s report on corporate governance. This 
report describes the main corporate governance 
framework and compliance of the Company with 
the disclosures required under the Code. Reasons 
for non-compliance are provided in the Corporate 
Governance Report, where applicable.

2. Company’s Profile

The Company is a public limited liability company 
incorporated on 5 November 2014 and registered 
in Mauritius with company registration number 
C126446. The Company holds a Global Business 
Company with Licence Number C114013769 
issued by the Financial Services Commission.

The Registered address of the Company is C/o 
Safyr Utilis Ltd, 7th Floor, Tower 1, NeXTeracom, 
Cybercity, Ebene, Republic of Mauritius. The 
Company is a listed entity on the Stock Exchange  
of Mauritius with a secondary listing on the 
Namibian Stock Exchange. The principal activity 
of the Company is that of an investment holding 
company.

 

The Board ensures that it has the right balance  
of skills, experience, independence and business 
knowledge necessary to discharge its 
responsibilities. It also has sufficient diversity 
in terms of age, educational background and 
professional qualifications of the directors for 
better decision-making.

The Board is responsible for leading and 
controlling the Company and meeting all legal  
and regulatory requirements. In line with the Code, 
all directors stand for re-election at the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders. The names  
of all directors, their profiles and categories 
as well as their directorships in other listed 
companies are set out below.

4.1 Common Directors

4.2 Board Meetings

The Board is responsible  for providing strategic 
direction to the Company and its underlying 
investments and ensure that the Company reaches 
its targeted growth in its net asset value and 
consequently growth in both yield and share price. 
Regular meetings of the Board are held to discuss 
the performance and day-to-day functioning of the 
Company and its investments.

The Board meetings are carried out in an 
environment which promotes constructive 
feedback from all members and which also 
encourages open discussions.

 
3. Company’s Constitution

The Company adopted its constitution on 29 
September 2015. For the year under review,  
no amendment was brought to the constitution  
of Tadvest. Furthermore, there is no provision  
in the constitution that restricts the transfer  
of shares.

4. Board Structure

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
consist of a mix of executive, non-executive and 
independent directors who are trusted to act in the 
best interests of the stakeholders of the Company. 
The Board is comprised of 5 directors under the 
chairmanship of Deva Marianen. The chairman  
of the Board is elected by the directors.

In line with the Company’s commitment to ensure 
sound corporate governance, the Board assumes 
overall responsibility and accountability for the 
success and sustainability of the Company.

Its role is focused primarily on exercising sound 
leadership and independent judgement when 
considering the Company’s strategic direction  
and overall performance, while always considering 
the best interests of all stakeholders. The Board 
as at 31 December 2020 comprised of 2 executive 
directors, 2 non-executive directors, and 1 
independent non-executive director, as listed below:
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x x x

Mike Gray x

The chairman, together with the Company’s 
secretary and investment advisors, decide under 
the meeting agendas. The directors are aware  
of their duty to attend each Board meeting unless  
under exceptional circumstances. More detail  
on the meeting attendance of the directors has 
been provided in section 6.

4.3 Board Performance Evaluation

The Board reviewed the performance of the 
directors during the reporting year, the Board  
as a whole and the Board Committees deemed the 
individual and collective performances satisfactory 
and is satisfied that the Board and its Committees 
have fulfilled their responsibilities in accordance 
with the respective charters.

4.4 Indemnities And Insurance

The directors and officers of the Company are 
covered by a directors and officers liability 
insurance policy which provides for the risks 
arising from acts or omissions of its directors  
and officers. The policy does not cover the  
Company against fraudulent, malicious or wilful 
acts or omissions of directors and officers.

4.5 Directors’ Remuneration

Directors are remunerated for their knowledge, 
experience and insight given to the Board. The 
Board has the power to fix directors’ remuneration 
in alignment with their individual as well as joint 
contribution towards the achievement of the 
company’s objective and performance, whilst 
considering the current market conditions and 
company’s financial performance. At this stage, 
there is no director approaching retirement.
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Deva Marianen 4,000 - 4,000

Ian Chambers 2,000 14,124 16,124

Dave Savage 2,000 - 2,000

Chris Neser 2,000 - 2,000

Mike Gray 8,000 - 8,000
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4.6. Board Charter

The Board has adopted a Board Charter and  
is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 
in accordance with the Charter for the reporting 
period. The Board is the link between the Company 
and its shareholders and are collectively 
responsible to lead and control the Company  
to enable it to attain its strategic objectives. The 
Board is guided by the interests of all stakeholders 
in discharging its duties.

Committees Composition Main Responsibilities

Corporate Governance Committee Mike Gray  
(Chairman)  

Deva Marianen 
(Member) 

Ian Chambers 
(Member)

To advise and make recommendations  
to the Board on all aspects of corporate 
governance that should be followed by 
the Company, so that the Board remains 
effective while complying with sound 
corporate governance practices and 
principles. The Committee advises the 
Board on key appointments at Board  
and top management level and reviews  
the remuneration structure of the  
Company.

Audit and Risk Committee Mike Gray  
(Chairman)  

Ian Chambers 
(Member)

Chris Neser 
(Member)

To assist the Board in fulfilling its  
oversight responsibilities, to ensure 
that adequate checks and balances 
are in place, and risks are properly  
identified and managed.  
 
The responsibilities include: 

• considering and reviewing the   
   reliability and accuracy of financial  
   information and appropriateness  
   of accounting policies and disclosure    
   practices, the quarterly financial    
   results, annual financial statements    
   or any other documentation to be  
   published in compliance with the  
   Company’s accounting standards; 

• reviewing compliance with applicable  
   laws and best corporate governance  
   practices and regulatory requirements  
   and the adequacy of accounting  
   records and internal control systems;  
   monitoring and supervising the  
   functioning and performance  
   of internal audit and considering the  
   independence of the external auditors   
   and making recommendations  
   to the board on the appointment  
   or dismissal of the external auditors. 

• review risk management strategies,  
   ensuring that strategies to address    
   potential threats to the Company’s  
   success have been identified,  
   estimated and approved and that  
   threats are regularly re-assessed  
   to determine impact of foreseeable  
   events on the Company’s situation.

4.7. Board Sub-Committees

The Board has 2 sub-committees, which have  
been established to assist the Board in discharging 
its responsibilities. These committees listed 
hereunder play an important role in ensuring  
good corporate governance and improving  
internal controls, thus, enhancing the performance  
of the Company. The Company’s Secretary acts  
as secretary to all the committees.

Alphamine Resources
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4.8. Board Diversity 

The Board annually assesses the skills of the Board 
as a whole, to identify any weaknesses that may 
exist. The Board believes, as a whole, it currently 
represents an appropriate balance of skills, outlook, 
experience and knowledge to conduct its roles and 
responsibilities.

The Board also believes that diversity of experience, 
culture and outlook, including gender and race 
diversity, among Board members is of great 
importance. It is the Board’s policy to give careful 
consideration to issues of Board balance and 
diversity when making new appointments and  
to do so on merit.

5. Board And Committee Attendance

During the year under review, four Board meetings, 
four Audit and Risk Committee meetings and one 
Corporate Governance meeting were held, and the 
attendance is provided below:

7. Shareholders’ Communications

It will be the policy of Tadvest to meet regularly 
with shareholders and investment analysts for 
discussion on the performance and management  
of the Company. The Board encourages 
shareholders to attend The Annual General 
Meeting through effective communication  
whether by means of the press or otherwise.  
The last Annual Meeting of shareholders was  
held on 15 June 2020. The next meeting will  
be held not later than 15 months after that date  
and within 6 months of 31 December 2020.

8. Dividend Policy

The Company has no formal dividend policy.  
No dividend was declared for the year under 
review.

9. Company Secretary

Safyr Utilis Fund Services Ltd is the Company 
secretary.

The Company secretary acts as a vital bridge 
between the Board and the executive management. 
The Company secretary oversees that the Board 
follows the correct procedures and complies with 
its obligations under the law and the Company’s 
constitution.

The Company secretary shall assist the chairperson 
of the Board in organizing the Board’s activities 

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had the 
following shareholders and the number of shares 
held by each is shown below:

6.Shareholding Structure

The Board annually assesses the skills of the Board 
The substantial shareholders of Tadvest Limited  
as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:
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Total 15,196,030 29,594,917
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(including providing information, preparing  
an agenda, reporting of meetings, evaluations  
and training programs).

10. Appointment Of The External Auditor

The Board of the Company recommended  
to the shareholders that Lancasters Chartered 
Accountants be re-appointed as auditors of the 
Company for the year ending 31 December 2020.

The appointment of Lancasters Chartered 
Accountants was approved by the shareholders.

11. Administration And Advisory

Tadvest has an Administration and Advisory 
Agreement with its investment advisor. The 
investment advisor is primarily responsible for 
providing recommendations to the Company 
in relation to the identification, negotiation 
and implementation of all investment-related 
transactions to be effectuated by the Company.

12. Risk Governance And Internal Control

1.  The Board is responsible for the system  
     of internal control and risk management  
     of the Company and its subsidiaries;

2.  The Board is committed to continuously maintain  
 adequate internal control procedures with  
 a view to safeguard the assets of the Company.  
 Areas with high residual risks are continuously  
 assessed and reviewed with the assistance of its  
 investment advisor;

3.  The Board is also responsible to continuously  
 implement and maintain adequate and effective  
     internal controls and also ensure that the  
     processes and systems used are operating   
     satisfactorily;

4.  The Board derives assurance that the internal 
  control systems are effective through the   
 management of the Company and for potential  
 investments which will be appraised regularly  
     in respect of performance and operations;

5.  The Board is responsible for how the internal  
 controls are implemented at all levels of the   
 Company;

6.  The Board believes that the Company’s systems  
 of internal control and risk management provide  
 reasonable assurance that control and risk   
 issues are identified, reported on and dealt with  
 appropriately;
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7.  The Board is responsible for the assessment  
 of the information, information technology and  
 information security policy in place.

13. Information Technology

The Company relies on information technology, 
an aspect of its business operations to enhance 
performance. The Board recognises that information 
technology is a vital part of the Company’s strategy. 
The Company is striving for greater flexibility, 
efficiency, innovation, improving productivity and 
competitiveness whilst controlling costs.

Modernising IT infrastructure is therefore  
an integral factor in enabling the company  
to respond faster to changing business needs  
for improved efficiency and process optimisation. 
The Board ensures that appropriate technology 
is implemented to maintain confidentiality and 
integrity. Security systems include virus scanners, 
firewall systems, access controls at operating 
system and application level, redundant systems  
as well as regular data backups.

The Company has an operational website and can 
be viewed on www.tadvest.com

14. Related Party Transactions

For information on related party transactions, 
please refer to Note 20 of the Annual Financial 
Statements.

15. Code Of Ethics

The Code of Ethics sets out the Company’s stance 
with regard to ethics i.e. ‘Doing the right thing even 
when no one is looking’.

The Code of Ethics puts forward 10 Principles 
which are underpinned by the core values of the 
Company. Shareholders will also be apprised  
of related party transactions through the issue 
of circulars and press releases by the Company 
in compliance with the Listing Rules of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius Limited.

16. Statement Of Directors’ Responsibilities  
In Respect Of Financial Statements

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year,  
which present fairly the financial position,  
financial performance and cashflow of the 
Company. In preparing those financial statements, 
the Directors are required to:

Trakka Systems
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1. Select suitable accounting policies and then   
 apply them consistently;

2. Make judgments and estimates that are   
 reasonable and prudent;

3. State whether International Financial Reporting  
 Standards (IFRS) have been followed and   
 complied with;

4. Prepare the financial statements on a going     
      concern basis unless it is inappropriate   
      to presume that the Company will continue  
      in business; and

5. Ensure that the Code of Corporate Governance 
  has been adhered to and in case of non-  
      compliance, reason has been provided   
 accordingly.

17. Reporting with Integrity

The directors confirm that they have complied with 
the above requirements in preparing the Company’s 
financial statements. The external auditors are 
responsible for reporting on whether the financial 
statements are fairly presented. The directors are 
responsible for keeping proper accounting records, 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the 
financial position of the Company at any time and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with The Companies Act 2001 and IFRS. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities. 
 
The Board is committed to continuously maintain 
a sound system of risk management and adequate 
control procedures with a view to safeguarding the 
assets of the Company. 

Nothing has come to the Board’s attention, to indicate 
any material breakdown in the functioning of the 
internal controls and systems during the period 
under review, which could have a material impact 
on the business. The financial statements are 
prepared from the accounting records on the basis 
of consistent use of appropriate accounting policies 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgement 
and estimates that fairly present the state of affairs 
of the Company.
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(Section 75 (3) Of The Financial Reporting 
Act

Name of Public Interest Entity (‘PIE’): Tadvest Limited

Reporting Period: 01 January 2020 to 31 December 
2020

We, the Directors of Tadvest Limited, confirm that 
to the best of our knowledge, the PIE has not 
complied to the following principles of the Codes 
of Corporate Governance.

Principle 2: Boards and its Committees

The title, function and role of the chairperson 
should be separate from that of the CEO.

The Board of Directors advised that the reason 
why the role of the chairperson is not separate 
from that of the CEO is because as the Company  
is a holding company and does not require a CEO 
for its functionalities.

The Board of Directors should have female 
representation to be compliant with the diversity 
requirements of the code. The board has started  
a process to identify suitable female candidates 
that can be added to the board to complement 
the skill set of the board and to comply with the 
diversity requirements.  

Principle 5: Risk Governance  
and Internal Control

Report on whistle-blowing rules and procedures; 
possible protections could include confidential 
hotlines, access to a confidential and independent 
person or office, safe harbours and rewards,  
or immunity to whistle-blowers.

The Board of Directors advised that it intends 
to develop robust whistle-blowing rules and 
procedures as soon as it develops further 
acquisition and intends to comply for the  
financial year 2021.

Deva Marianen

Michael Gray

Statement Of  
Compliance To Code

Kemtek Imaging Systems
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Risk Identified How This Risk Is Mitigated

Non-compliance with SEM & NSX listing 
requirements

• Appointment of and reliance on advice provided by  
 appropriately qualified sponsor (SAFYR Capital/PSG)
• Appointment of appropriately qualified Company  
 Secretary to ensure compliance (SAFYR Utilis)

Failure to issue appropriate and timeous SEM & 
NSX announcements

• Appointment of and reliance on advice provided  
 by appropriately qualified sponsor (SAFYR UTILIS/PSG)
• Appointment of appropriately qualified Company  
 Secretary to ensure compliance (SAFYR Utilis)
• Timeous identification and submission of reports/returns

Non-compliance with statutory laws and 
regulations

• Obtain legal counsel before engaging unknown  
 jurisdictions and entering into unknown tax  
 jurisdictions as part of the Due Diligence process

Excessive risk taking at Board level • Board is well balanced between executive  
 and non-executive board members
• Board comprised of experienced directors  
 who understand risk management processes
• Board composition is reviewed on a regular  
 basis to ensure the necessary experience  
 levels and objectivity is maintained 
•    Internal policy documents to guide the Board and its  
      subcommittees on risks such as interest rate risk and  
      foreign exchange risks

Conflict of interest at Board level • Sufficient independence on board with appropriate  
 governance processes followed at all times
• Declarations and recusal at voting if necessary
• Appointment of appropriately qualified Company  
 Secretary to ensure compliance (SAFYR Utilis)
• Appoint directors with appropriate  
 qualifications and experience  

Retention of non-performing assets • A detailed portfolio overview is presented to  
 the board on a bi-annual basis
• Continuous monitoring of portfolio investments  
 by external advisors

Inadequate performance by the service 
providers

• Service level agreements (“SLA”) are in place  
 with all service providers.
• External service providers report directly to  
 the Board of Directors

New acquisitions/investments do not meet the 
company’s investment criteria of capital growth 
and/or investment income

• Professional due diligences are required for all acquisitions. 
 All investment opportunities are presented to the board 
 for consideration and approval
• An investment strategy exists that guides  
 the investment process and decisions

Failure to perform adequate due diligence on 
foreign tax implications

• Due diligence performed by specialists as and 
 when transactions are planned / evaluated

Inability to raise sufficient funding for capital 
and operational requirements

• Timeous application for refinancing at banks 
• Management of liquidity risk
• Regular review of sureties and funding terms in place
• Diversified sources of funding

Risk Analysis
Risk Identified How This Risk Is Mitigated

Failure to perform accurate due diligence on 
new investments

• Appointment of competent service providers,  
 legal, tax and accounting professionals 
• Independent and competent Board

Excessive cash in the group over extended 
periods of time resulting in an inability to 
achieve investment objective 

• Effective cash flow management  
 using 12 month rolling forecasts
• Ongoing evaluation of potential investment opportunities  
 to ensure excess cash is invested appropriately 

Inability to identify adequate investments that 
meet the investment criteria

• Bi-annual strategic sessions defining  
 future acquisitions into the portfolio
• Ongoing evaluation of potential investment opportunities

Lack of sufficient knowledge of political and 
economic risks in countries where foreign 
investments are held

• Continuous monitoring of the economic  
 status in relevant country
• Assessment of in-country management  
 of the portfolio/asset

Lack of sufficient reporting from portfolio 
companies

• Monthly review of management packs which  
 include cash flow management and forecasts
• Regular site visits
• Attendance of portfolio investment board  
 meetings and shareholder meetings

Insufficient controls at a portfolio company level • Regular site visits
• Attendance of portfolio company board  

meetings and shareholder meetings

Portfolio company or investments not 
performing according to budgets and forecasts

• Active involvement in review of budgets and forecasts
• Active monitoring of 12 month forecasted cash flows
• Proactive management and monitoring of performance  
 relative to budgets and forecasts throughout the year

Unable to exit illiquid assets • Bi-annual strategic meetings reviewing  
 exit strategies of investments
• Implementing clear strategic targets for  
 the respective investments

Deterioration of asset values over time which  
remain part of the portfolio

• Regular benchmarking of asset  
 and portfolio performance

Over exposure to specific industries or 
countries which could result in higher  
portfolio risk

• Regular review of portfolio composition and  
 identification of high risk industries and countries
• Bi-annual strategic meetings reviewing exit  
 strategies of investments

Over exposure to a certain company or  
stock (Single Stock Risk)

• Diversification strategy of high exposure  
 to specific investments 
• Bi-annual strategic meetings reviewing  
 the portfolio composition and exposure

Key person risk • Implementation of clear succession planning and key person  
 risk management strategies within each investment
• Bi-annual review and adjustment of the key person  
 risk strategy
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   Country of incorporation and domicile                                Mauritius

Nature of business and principal activities                        Tadvest Limited was incorporated  
                                                                                                        in Mauritius as an investment holding  
                                                                                                        company. The company operates  
                                                                                                        in Mauritius and holds investments   
                                                                                                        across the globe.

Directors                                                                                         D. Marianen

                                                                                                        I.A. Chambers

                                                                                                        M.J. Gray

                                                                                                        C.B. Neser

                                                                                                        D.S Savage

Registered office                                                                        Safyr Utilis Fund Services Ltd 
                                                                                                        7th Floor, Tower 1  
                                                                                                        NexTeracom Cybercity Ebene  
                                                                                                        Republic of Mauritius 
                                                                                                        72201 
 

Auditors                                                                                        Lancasters Chartered Accountants   
                                                                                                        Registered Auditors 
                                                                                                        14 Lancaster Court 
                                                                                                        Lavoquer Street 
                                                                                                        Port Louis 
                                                                                                        Republic of Mauritius 
 

Company registration number                                               C126446

Level of assurance                                                                    These annual financial statements  
                                                                                                        have been audited in compliance with  
                                                                                                        the applicable requirements of the  
                                                                                                        Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

Preparer                                                                                      The annual financial statements were 
                                                                                                        independently compiled by:  
                                                                                                        J.B. Coetzee 
                                                                                                        Chartered Accountant (S.A.)  
                                                                                                        Registered Auditor
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part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited:

> Detailed Income Statement
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Audit and Risk  
Committee Report

Fruitvest

The Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC”) submits 
below its report for the financial year ended  
31 December 2020. 
 
1. Members of the Audit and Risk Committee

The members of the audit committee are all 
directors of the Company and include:

Mike Gray (Chairman) 
Ian Chambers 
Chris Neser 
 
2. Internal control and accounting systems

The committee satisfied itself through enquiry that 
the external auditors are independent as defined 
by the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and as per 
the standards stipulated by the auditing profession. 
Requisite assurance was sought and provided by 
the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 that internal 
governance processes within the firm support 
and demonstrate the claim to independence.

The audit committee in consultation with executive 
management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. 
The audit fee for the external audit has been 
considered and approved taking into consideration 
such factors as the timing of the audit, the extent 
of the work required and the scope.

3. Accounting practices and internal control

The ARC is of the opinion that the systems of internal 
financial and business controls are effective and  
form the basis for the preparation of reliable  
financial statements.

4. Recommendation to the board

The ARC has reviewed and considered the Annual  
Financial Statements and has recommended it for 
approval by the Board. The ARC and the Board are 
satisfied that they have fulfilled their responsibilities 
in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter, during the 
year.

On behalf of the audit and risk committee

Michael John Gray 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 
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The directors are responsible for the maintenance 
of adequate accounting records and for the 
preparation, integrity and objectivity of the 
Company’s Annual Financial Statements.

The Audit and Risk Committee meets with the  
external auditor to consider internal controls,  
the audit process reporting. The external auditor 
has unrestricted access to all records, related  
information, senior advisors and the Audit and  
Risk Committee.

The annual financial statements are prepared  
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, the listing requirements  
of the SEM and the requirements of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001 insofar as they are applicable 
to the Global Business Licensed companies and 
are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial 
control established by the company and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the directors  
to meet these responsibilities, the directors sets 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 

The standards include the proper delegation  
of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are 
monitored throughout the company and all  
employees are required to maintain the highest  
ethical standards in ensuring the company’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all  
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 

The focus of risk management in the company  
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 
all known forms of risk across the company.  

While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated,  
the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 
that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems  
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the  
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the annual 
financial statements. However, any system 
of internal financial control can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash 
flow forecast for the year to 31 December 2021 
and, in light of this review and the current financial 
position, they are satisfied that the company has  
or had access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the 
company’s annual financial statements. The 
annual financial statements have been examined 
by the company’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on pages 80 to 82.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 
84 to 121, which have been prepared on the going 
concern basis, were approved by the directors on 
30 March 2021 and were signed on their behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

Deva Marianen 
Chairman of the board

Directors’ 
Responsibilities 
and Approval

EPP
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their 
report on the annual financial statements  
of Tadvest Limited (“the Company”) for the year  
ended 31 December 2020. 
 
1. Nature of business

Tadvest Limited was incorporated in Mauritius  
and the principal activity of the Company is that  
of an investment holding company.

There have been no material changes to the nature 
of the Company’s business from the prior year. 
 
2. Review of financial results and activities

The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 
2001. The accounting policies have been applied 
consistently compared to the prior year.

Full details of the financial position, results  
of operations and cash flows of the company  
are set out in these annual financial statements.

3. Dividends

The Company’s dividend policy is to consider  
an interim and a final dividend in respect of each 
financial year. At their discretion, the directors may 
consider a special dividend, where appropriate. 
Depending on the perceived need to retain 
funds for expansion or operating purposes, the 
directors may pass on the payment of dividends.

4. Directorate

The directors in office at the date of this report  
are as follows:

Deva Marianen 
Ian Chambers 
Mike Gray 
Chris Neser 
Dave Savage

There have been no changes to the directorate  
for the year under review.

Directors’ 
Report

EPP

5. Directors’ interests in contracts

During the financial year, no contracts were 
entered into which directors or officers of the 
company had an interest and which significantly 
affected the business of the company.

6. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end and through the date  
on which the financial statements were authorised 
for issue, the Board evaluated that there were 
no events after the reporting period that require 
disclosure in these financial statements. 

The Board would like to however note that the gain, 
between year end and the issuance of these 
financial statements, in the value of the investments 
at fair value was USD 1.975m. The Board is also 
aware of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and does 
not believe it necessary to make any further  
adjustments or disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

The Board has also reviewed the Company’s latest  
cashflow forecast and determined there 
is no immediate concern around the going 
concern assumption of the Company.

The directors are not aware of any other material  
event which occurred after the reporting date and 
up to the date of this report.

7. Going concern

The directors believe that the company has 
adequate financial resources to continue 
in operation for the foreseeable future and 
accordingly the annual financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The directors have satisfied themselves that the 
company is in a sound financial position and that 
it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities 
to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. 

The directors are not aware of any new material 
changes that may adversely impact the company. 

The directors are also not aware of any material 
non-compliance with statutory or regulatory 
requirements or of any pending changes  
to legislation which may affect the company.

8. Litigation statement

The company is not currently involved in any such  
claims or lawsuits, which individually or in the 
aggregate, are expected to have a material adverse 
effect on the business or its assets.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements of Tadvest Limited (‘the Company’), 
which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2020, and the statement  
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give  
a true and fair view, in all material respects,  
of the financial position of the Company  
as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and comply 
with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).  
Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section  
of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance  
in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed  
in the context of our audit of the financial statements  
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,  
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Key audit matter

Investments valuation

The Company’s main objective is to invest in entities 
for capital growth and has been classified as  
an investment entity in accordance with IFRS 10.  
In assessing the carrying value of the investments, 
Directors have exercised judgement.

Impairment of assets

In evaluating the Company’s investments and loans 
receivable, circumstances may exist that indicate  
the need to impair these assets. Expected credit  
losses (ECL) have been calculated for loans  
receivable.

How the matter was resolved during audit

We have reviewed the Directors’ assessment  
of fair value of the investments. We ensured  
that the ownership documents were in order.  
We reviewed and challenged by reference  
to documentations, assumptions and estimates  
regarding the Directors’ fair value assessment  
process.

We have reviewed the Board of Directors’ papers, 
management accounts, audited financial statements  
and prospectuses where relevant of entities  
in which investments have been made. We have 
enquired with the Directors as to the prospects 
of the investments. We have verified the basis 
of calculation of ECL.

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other 
information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the Audit and Risk Committee 
Report, Directors’ Report, the Corporate Governance 
Report, the Statement of Compliance and the  
Company Secretary’s Certificate, but does not 
include the financial statements nor our auditors’ 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained  
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing  
to report in this regard. 
 
Corporate Governance Report

Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting 
Act is to report on the compliance with the Code 
of Corporate Governance disclosed in the annual 
report and assess the explanations given for non-
compliance with any requirement of the Code. 
From our assessment of the disclosures made 
on corporate governance in the annual report, 
the Company has, pursuant to section 75 of the 
Financial Reporting Act, complied with the 
requirements of the Code.

Responsibilities of the Directors and those  
charged with Governance for the Financial  
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements  
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001, and for such internal control 
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors 
are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern  
and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic  
alternative  but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible 
for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole  
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted  
in accordance with ISAs will always detect  
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually  
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably  
be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs,  
we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
We also:

> Identify and assess the risks of material  
   misstatement of the financial statements, whether   
   due to fraud or error, design and perform audit  
   procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain  
   audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate  
   to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not   
   detecting a material misstatement resulting from     
   fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,  
   as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
   omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
   of internal control.

> Obtain an understanding of internal control  
    relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
    procedures that are appropriate in the 
    circumstances, but not for the purpose  
    of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness   
    of the Company’s internal control.

> Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting  
    policies used and the reasonableness  
    of accounting estimates and related  
    disclosures made by the Directors.

> Conclude on the appropriateness of the   
    Director’s use of the going concern basis  
    of accounting and based on the audit evidence  
    obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
    related to events or conditions that may cast 
    significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
    to continue as a going concern. If we conclude   
    that a material uncertainty exists, we are    
    required to draw attention in our auditors’  
    report to the related disclosures in the financial  
    statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,  
    to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
    on the audit evidence obtained up to the date  
    of our auditors’ report. However, future events 
    or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
    to continue as a going concern.
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> Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and   
   content of the financial statements, including the  
   disclosures, and whether the financial statements  
   represent the underlying transactions and events  
   in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Directors and those 
charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought  
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditors’ report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Other matter

This report is made solely for the Company’s  
shareholders, as a body, in accordance with  
Section 205 of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Company’s shareholders those matters  
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept  
or assume responsibility to anyone other than  
the Company and the Company’s shareholders,  
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements 
 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001

We have no relationship with or interests in the  
Company other than in our capacity as auditors. 
We have obtained all the information and 
explanations we have required.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have 
been kept by the Company as far as it appears 
from our examination of those records.

Lancasters  
Chartered Accountants  
14, Lancaster Court 
Lavoquer Street 
Port Louis 11328 
Mauritius

Priyaved Jhugroo FCA 
Licensed by FRC

Annual Financial StatementsAnnual Financial Statements

To the Management of Tadvest Limited

In accordance with section 166(d) of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001, the Company’s Secretary 
certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
that the company has logged with the Registrar 
of Companies all such returns as are required 
of the Company under the Mauritius Companies 
Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Represented by: Shaheen Coowar 
Company Secretary

30 March 2021

Secretary’s
Certificate
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Figures in US Dollar Notes 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Non-Current Assets   

Loans receivable 3  -  992 335 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4  50 244 358  53 455 481 

Total Non-Current Assets  50 244 358 54 447 816

Current Assets   

Loans receivable 3  2 413 494  1 232 274

Trade and other receivables 5  20 731  46 143

Investments at fair value 4 4 771 392  4 305 581

Cash and cash equivalents 6 118  599  168 354 

7 324 216 5 752 352

Total Assets 57 568 574  60 200 168 

Equity and Liabilities     

Equity   

Share capital 7  42 881 201  42 881 201

Retained income 14 658 493 17 287 060

Total Equity 57 539 694 60 168 261

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 28 880 31 907

Total Equity and Liabilities 57 568 574 60 200 168

The net asset value per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 is $1,28 (2019: $1,34). (Refer to Note 9)

Deva Marianen  
Director  

Ian Andrew Chambers 
Director

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2020

The annual financial statements and the notes on pages 72 to 121, were approved by the directors on the 
30 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Trakka Systems
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Figures in US Dollar Share Capital Retained Income Total Equity

Balance at 01 January 2019 42 881 201  11 712 103 54 593 304

Profit for the year - 5 574 957  5 574 957

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year -  5 574 957 5 574 957

Balance at 01 January 2020 42 881 201 17 287 062 60 168 263

Loss for the year - (2 628 569)  (2 628 569)

Other comprehensive income -  -  -

Total comprehensive Loss for the year - (2 628 569) (2 628 569)

Balance at 31 December 2010 42 881 201  14 658 493  57 539 694

Note 7     

Figures in US Dollar Notes 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Revenue 10  101 135  667 429

Other operating income 11  114 882  -

Other gains/(losses) 12  (2 390 520)  5 324 616 

Operating expenses  (531 285) (332 928)

Operating (loss)/profit 13 (2 705 788) 5 659 117

Investment income 14  77 219  17 203

(Loss)/profit before taxation (2 628 569)  5 676 320

Taxation 15 -  (101 363)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (2 628 569)  5 574 957 

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (2 628 569)  5 574 957 

The earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 is $(0,06) (2019: $0,12). (Refer to Note 16)

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income

Statement of Changes in Equity

Figures in US Dollar Notes 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Cash flows from operating activities   

Cash generated from operations 17 (65 602)  (302 273) 

Interest income 65 899  17 399 

Dividends received  101 135 667 429

Tax paid 18  - (101 363)

Net cash from operating activities  101 432  281 192

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of investments at fair value  (7 006 145)  (8 034 731) 

Sale of investments at fair value 7 040 761 7 942 542

Advances of loans receivable at amortised cost  (1 017 959)  (244 865) 

Receipts from loans receivable at amortised cost 831 754    174 375

Net cash from investing activities (151 589) (162 679) 

Total cash movement for the year (50 157) 118 513

Cash at the beginning of the year 168 354 52 721

Effect of exchange rate movement on cash balances 402 (2 880)

Total cash at end of the year 6 118 599 168 354

Statement of Cash Flows

Kemtek Imaging Systems
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Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Management did not make critical judgements  
in the application of accounting policies, apart  
from those involving estimations, which would 
significantly affect the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of financial assets

The impairment provisions for financial assets are 
based on assumptions about risk of default and  
expected loss rates. The company uses judgement 
in making these assumptions and selecting the 
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
company’s past history, existing market conditions 
as well as forward looking estimates at the end  
of each reporting period. For details of the key  
assumptions and inputs used, refer to the 
individual notes addressing financial assets.

Fair value estimation

Several assets and liabilities of the company are 
either measured at fair value or disclosure is made 
of their fair values.

Observable market data is used as inputs to the  
extent that it is available. Qualified external valuers 
are consulted for the determination of appropriate  
valuation techniques and inputs.

Impairment testing

The company reviews and tests the carrying value 
of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. When such indicators exist, 
management determine the recoverable amount  
by performing value in use and fair value 
calculations. These calculations require the use  
of estimates and assumptions. When it is not  
possible to determine the recoverable amount for  
an individual asset, management assesses the 
recoverable amount for the cash generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

Corporate information

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these annual financial statements 
are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared  
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and 
in compliance with, International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations issued and effective at the time  
of preparing these annual financial statements 
and the Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise 
stated in the accounting policies which follow and 
incorporate the principal accounting policies set 
out below. They are presented in US Dollars, which 
is the company’s functional currency.  
 
These accounting policies are consistent with the  
previous period.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources  
of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of annual financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires management,  
from time to time, to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application  
of policies and reportedamounts of assets,  
liabilities, income and expenses. 

These estimates and associated assumptions are  
based on experience and various other factors  
that are believed to be reasonable under the  
circumstances. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected.

Accounting Policies
1.3 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the company are  
classified in accordance with the provisions 
of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are  
adopted by the company, as applicable, are  
as follows: 
 
Financial assets which are equity instruments:

^ Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss;  
    or

^ Designated as at fair value through other  
   comprehensive income. (This designation is not  
   available to equity instruments which are held for  
   trading or which are contingent consideration 
   in a business combination).

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

^ Amortised cost. (This category applies only when  
   the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, 
   on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely  
   payments of principal and interest on principal, 
   and where the instrument is held under a business 
   model whose objective is met by holding the  
   instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or

^ Fair value through other comprehensive income.  
   (This category applies only when the contractual  
   terms of the instrument give rise, on specified     
   dates, to cash flows that are solely payments  
   of principal and interest on principal, and where   
   the instrument is held under a business model     
   whose objective is achieved by both collecting   
   contractual cash flows and selling the instruments);  
   or

^ Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.  
   (This classification automatically applies to all  
   debt instruments which do not qualify as at   
   amortised cost or at fair value through other 
   comprehensive income); or

^ Designated at fair value through profit or loss.    
   (This classification option can only be applied  
   when it eliminates or significantly reduces  
   an accounting mismatch).

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging  
relationship:

^ Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:

^ Amortised cost; or

^ Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.     
   (This applies to contingent consideration 
   in a business combination or to liabilities which 
   are held for trading); or

^ Designated at fair value through profit or loss.  
   (This classification option can be applied when  
   it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting    
   mismatch; the liability forms part of a group  
   of financial instruments managed on a fair value   
   basis; or it forms part of a contract containing  
   an embedded derivative and the entire contract  
   is designated as at fair value through profit or loss).

Note 19: Financial instruments and risk management 
presents the financial instruments held by the 
company based on their specific classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, 
recognition and measurement of each type  
of financial instrument held by the company are 
presented below:

Loans receivable at amortised cost

Classification

Loans receivable (note 3) are classified as financial 
assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because 
the contractual terms of these loans give rise,  
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding, and the company’s business model  
is to collect the contractual cash flows on these 
loans. 
 
Recognition and measurement

Loans receivable are recognised when the company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, 
at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised  
on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, 
plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the  
effective interest method of any difference between  
the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted  
for any loss allowance.

Application of the effective interest method

Interest income is calculated using the effective 
interest method, and is included in profit or loss 
in investment income (note 14).
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The application of the effective interest method  
to calculate interest income on a loan receivable  
is dependent on the credit risk of the loan  
as follows:

^ The effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
   carrying amount of the loan, provided the loan 
   is not credit impaired. The gross carrying amount   
   is the amortised cost before adjusting for a loss 
   allowance.

^ If a loan is purchased or originated as credit- 
   impaired, then a credit-adjusted effective interest  
   rate is applied to the amortised cost in the deter- 
   mination of interest. This treatment does not  
   change over the life of the loan, even if it is no 
   longer credit-impaired.

^ If a loan was not purchased or originally credit- 
   impaired, but it has subsequently become credit- 
   impaired, then the effective interest rate is    
   applied to the amortised cost of the loan in the    
   determination of interest. If, in subsequent     
   periods, the loan is no longer credit impaired,  
   then the interest calculation reverts to applying 
   the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
   amount.

Loans denominated in foreign currencies

When a loan receivable is denominated in a foreign  
currency, the carrying amount of the loan  
is determined in the foreign currency. The  
carrying amount is then translated to the US Dollar  
equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each 
reporting period. Any resulting foreign exchange 
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss  
in the other gains/(losses) (note 12).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the 
management thereof are provided in the financial 
instruments and risk management (note 19).

Impairment

The company recognises a loss allowance for  
expected credit losses on all loans receivable 
measured at amortised cost. The amount  
of expected credit losses is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since initial recognition of the respective loans.

The company measures the loss allowance  
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses (lifetime ECL) when there has been  
a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If the credit risk on a loan has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition, 
then the loss allowance for that loan is measured 
at 12 month expected credit losses (12 month ECL). 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a loan. In contrast, 12 month 
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that  
is expected to result from default events on a loan 
that are possible within 12 months after the  
reporting date.

In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL  
or 12 month ECL, in other words, whether or not 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
 since initial recognition, the company considers 
whether there has been a significant increase 
in the risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition rather than at evidence of a loan  
being credit impaired at the reporting date 
or of an actual default occurring.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a loan has 
increased significantly since initial recognition,  
the company compares the risk of a default  
occurring on the loan as at the reporting date  
with the risk of a default occurring as at the date  
of initial recognition.

The company considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and  
supportable, including historical experience and 
forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking 
information considered includes the future  
prospects of the industries in which the counter- 
parties operate, obtained from economic expert  
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, 
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, 
as well as consideration of various external sources 
of actual and forecast economic information.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above 
assessment, the credit risk on a loan is always  
presumed to have increased significantly since 
initial recognition if the contractual payments are  
more than 30 days past due, unless the company  
has reasonable and supportable information 
that demonstrates otherwise.

By contrast, if a loan is assessed to have a low  
credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed  
that the credit risk on the loan has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.

The company regularly monitors the effectiveness  
of the criteria used to identify whether there has  
been a significant increase in credit risk and  
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the  
criteria are capable of identifying significant  
increases in credit risk before the amount  
becomes past due.
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Definition of default

For purposes of internal credit risk management 
purposes, the company consider that a default 
event has occurred if there is either a breach  
of financial covenants by the counterparty,  
or if internal or external information indicates  
that the counterparty is unlikely to pay its creditors 
in full (without taking collateral into account).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the company  
considers that default has occurred when a loan  
instalment is more than 90 days past due unless 
there is reasonable and supportable information  
to demonstrate that a more lagging default  
criterion is more appropriate.

Write off policy

The company writes off a loan when there  
is information indicating that the counterparty  
is in severe financial difficulty and there  
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when  
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation 
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Loans 
written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the company recovery procedures, 
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.  
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected  
credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses  
is a function of the probability of default, loss  
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there 
is a default) and the exposure at default, taking 
the time value of money into consideration.

The assessment of the probability of default and 
loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward-looking information as  
described above. The exposure at default is the 
gross carrying amount of the loan at the reporting  
date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis  
in cases where evidence of significant increases  
in credit risk are not yet available at the individual 
instrument level. Loans are then grouped in such 
a manner that they share similar credit risk 
characteristics, such as nature of the loan,  
external credit ratings (if available), industry  
of counterparty etc.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management  
to ensure the constituents of each group continue  
to share similar credit risk characteristics.  
 

If the company has measured the loss allowance  
for a financial instrument at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but 
determines at the current reporting date that the 
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the 
company measures the loss allowance at an amount 
equal to 12 month ECL at the current reporting date, 
and visa versa.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised for all loans 
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment  
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance 
account. The impairment loss is included in operating 
expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit 
loss allowance (note 13).

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable 
are included in the specific notes and the financial 
instruments and risk management (note 19).

Derecognition

Refer to the “derecognition” section of the accounting 
policy for the policies and processes related 
to derecognition.

Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when  
applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified  
as financial assets subsequently measured  
at amortised cost (note 5).

They have been classified in this manner because  
their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal outstanding, and  
the company’s business model is to collect the  
contractual cash flows on trade and other 
receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when 
the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the receivables. They are measured, 
at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction 
costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the 
receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus 
cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective 
interest method of any difference between the initial  
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any 
loss allowance.

Country Mushrooms
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Application of the effective interest method

For receivables which contain a significant 
financing component, interest income is calculated  
using the effective interest method, and is included 
in profit or loss in investment income (note 14).

The application of the effective interest method  
to calculate interest income on trade receivables  
is dependent on the credit risk of the receivable 
as follows:

^ The effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
    carrying amount of the receivable, provided the 
    receivable is not credit impaired. The gross  
    carrying amount is the amortised cost before 
    adjusting for a loss allowance.

^ If a receivable is a purchased or originated  
    as credit-impaired, then a credit-adjusted    
    effective interest rate is applied to the amortised   
    cost in the determination of interest. This   
    treatment does not change over the life of the  
    receivable, even if it is no longer credit-impaired.

^ If a receivable was not purchased or originally  
   credit-impaired, but it has subsequently become    
   credit-impaired, then the effective interest rate  
   is applied to the amortised cost of the receivable   
   in the determination of interest. If, in subsequent   
   periods, the receivable is no longer credit    
   impaired, then the interest calculation reverts 
   to applying the effective interest rate to the  
   gross carrying amount.

Trade and other receivables denominated  
in foreign currencies

When trade and other receivables are denominated  
in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the 
receivables are determined in the foreign currency. 
The carrying amount is then translated to the  
US Dollar equivalent using the spot rate at the end  
of each reporting period.  
 
Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses  
are recognised in profit or loss in other gains/ 
(losses) (note 12).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the 
management thereof are provided in the trade and 
other receivables (note 5).

Impairment

The company recognises a loss allowance  
for expected credit losses on trade and other 
receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments.  
The amount of expected credit losses is updated  
at each reporting date.

The company measures the loss allowance for  
trade and other receivables at an amount equal  
to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), 
which represents the expected credit losses that  
will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of the receivable.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit  
losses

The company makes use of a provision matrix  
as a practical expedient to the determination  
of expected credit losses on trade and other  
receivables. The provision matrix is based  
on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for  
factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions and an assessment of both 
the current and forecast direction of conditions  
at the reporting date, including the time value  
of money, where appropriate.  
 
The customer base is widespread and does not 
show significantly different loss patterns for 
different customer segments. The loss allowance 
is calculated on a collective basis for all trade and 
other receivables in totality. Details of the provision 
matrix is presented in note 5.  
 
An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit  
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the 
carrying amount of trade and other receivables, 
through use of a loss allowance account. The  
impairment loss is included in operating expenses 
in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss 
allowance (note 13).

Write off policy

The company writes off a receivable when there  
is information indicating that the counterparty  
is in severe financial difficulty and there  
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when  
the counterparty has beenplaced under liquidation 
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. 
Receivables written off may still be subject  
to enforcement activities under the company 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made  
are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk are included in the trade and  
other receivables note (note 5) and the financial 
instruments and risk management note (note 19).

Derecognition

Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting 
policy for the policies and processes related to 
derecognition. Investments in equity instruments 
to derecognition.

Investments in equity instruments

Classification

Investments in equity instruments are presented  
in note 4. They are classified as mandatorily  
at fair value through profit or loss. As an exception 
to this classification, the company may make  
an irrevocable election, on an instrument  
by instrument basis, and on initial recognition, 
to designate certain investments in equity  
instruments as at fair value through other  
comprehensive income.

The designation as at fair value through other  
comprehensive income is never made  
on investments which are either held for trading 
or contingent consideration in a business  
combination.

Recognition and measurement

Investments in equity instruments are recognised  
when the company becomes a party to the  
contractual provisions of the instrument. The 
investments are measured, at initial recognition,  
at fair value. Transaction costs are added to the 
initial carrying amount for those investments 
which have been designated as at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. All other 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in equity instruments are subsequently 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised either in profit or loss or in other  
comprehensive income (and accumulated in 
equity in the reserve for valuation of investments), 
depending on their classification.

Fair value gains or losses recognised on investments 
at fair value through profit or loss are included 
in other operating gains (losses) (note 12).

Dividends received on equity investments are  
recognised in profit or loss when the company’s  
right to received the dividends is established, 
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery  
of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends  
are included in investment income (note 14).

Investments denominated in foreign currencies

When an investment in an equity instrument  
is denominated in a foreign currency, the fair value 
of the investment is determined in the foreign 
currency. The fair value is then translated to the  
US Dollar equivalent using the spot rate at the end 
of each reporting period. Any resulting foreign 
exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit  
or loss as part of the fair value adjustment for 
investments which are classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains 

or losses arising on investments at fair value  
through other comprehensive income are 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity in the reserve 
for valuation of investments.

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the 
management thereof are provided in the financial 
instruments and risk management (note 19).

Impairment

Investments in equity instruments are not subject  
to impairment provisions.

Derecognition

Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting  
policy for the policies and processes related  
to derecognition.

The gains or losses which accumulated in equity  
in the reserve for valuation of investments for  
equity investments at fair value through other  
comprehensive income are not reclassified to profit 
or loss on derecognition. Instead, the cumulative  
amount is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 8), excluding VAT  
and amounts received in advance, are classified  
as financial liabilities subsequently measured  
at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the company becomes  
a party to the contractual provisions, and are  
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus  
transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method  
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over  
the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability,  
or (where appropriate) a shorter period,  
to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Trade and other payables expose the company 
to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk.  
Refer to note 19 for details of risk exposure and  
management thereof.

Trade and other payables denominated in foreign  
currencies

When trade payables are denominated in a foreign  
currency, the carrying amount of the payables 
are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying 
amount is then translated to the US Dollar equivalent 
using the spot rate at the end of each reporting 
period. 
 
Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss in the other gains/
(losses) (note 12). 
 
Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the 
management thereof are provided in the financial 
instruments and risk management note (note 19).

Derecognition

Refer to the “derecognition” section of the  
accounting policy for the policies and processes 
related to derecognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying 
amount which is deemed to be fair value.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,  
using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The company derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial  
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another party. 

If the company neither transfers nor retains  
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  
and continues to control the transferred asset, the 
company recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts  
it may have to pay. 

If the company retains sub-stantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the company continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received. Alaris Holdings

Financial liabilities

The company derecognises financial liabilities  
when, and only when, the company obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire.  
The difference between the carrying amount  
of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including any  
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Reclassification

Financial assets

The company only reclassifies affected financial  
assets if there is a change in the business model  
for managing financial assets. If a reclassification 
is necessary, it is applied prospectively from the 
reclassification date. Any previously stated  
gains,losses or interest are not restated. The 
reclassification date is the beginning of the first 
reporting period following the change in business 
model which necessitates a reclassification.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

1.4 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is,  
to theextent unpaid, recognised as a liability.  
If the amount already paid in respect of current 
and prior periods exceeds the amount due for 
those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and 
prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities,  
using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the  
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable  
temporary differences, except to the extent that 
the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
which at the time of the transaction, affects  
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).  
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. 
A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability  
in a transaction at the time of the transaction,
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affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit 
(tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured  
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted  
by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised  
as income or an expense and included in profit  
or loss for the period, except to the extent that  
the tax arises from:

^ a transaction or event which is recognised,  
    in the same or a different period, to other  
    comprehensive income, or

^ a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged  
or credited to other comprehensive income  
if the tax relates to items that are credited  
or charged, in the same or a different period,  
to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged 
or credited directly to equity if the tax relates 
to items that are credited or charged, in the 
same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.5 Impairment of assets

The company assesses at each end of the  
reporting period whether there is any indication  
that an asset may be impaired. If any such  
indication exists, the company estimates the  
recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may  
be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated  
for the individual asset. If it is not possible  
to estimate the recoverable amount of the 
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the 
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs 
is determined.The recoverable amount of an asset  
or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the  
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That  
reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less 
any accumulated depreciation or amortisation  
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any 
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated 
as a revaluation decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether  
there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for assets other 
than goodwill may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the  
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset  
other than goodwill attributable to a reversal  
of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets  
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation  
or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal  
of an impairment loss of a revalued asset  
is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.6 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences  
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.Ordinary shares are 
recognised at par value and classified as ‘share  
capital’ in equity. 

Any amounts received from the issue of shares  
in excess of par value is classified as ‘share 
premium’ in equity.Dividends are recognised  
as a liability in the company in which they are  
declared.

1.7 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded,  
on initial recognition in US Dollars, by applying  
to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange 
rate between the functional currency and the 
foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

^ foreign currency monetary items are translated 
    using the closing rate;

^ non-monetary items that are measured in terms  
    of historical cost in a foreign currency are  
    translated using the exchange rate at the date  
    of the transaction; and

^ non-monetary items that are measured at fair     
    value in a foreign currency are translated using      
    the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
    was determined.

In circumstances where the company receives 
or pays an amount in foreign currency in advance 
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of a transaction, the transaction date for purposes 
of determining the exchange rate to use on initial 
recognition of the related asset, income or expense 
is the date on which the company initially recognised 
the non-monetary item arising on payment or receipt 
of the advance consideration.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, 
company determines a date of transaction for each 
payment or receipt  of advance consideration. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement  
of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at rates different from those at which they were 
translated on initial recognition during the period 
or in previous annual financial statements are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item  
is recognised to other comprehensive income  
and accumulated in equity, any exchange  
component of that gain or loss is recognised  
to other comprehensive income and accumulated  
in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary 
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is recognised  
in profit or loss. Cash flows arising from transactions 
in a foreign currency are recorded in US Dollars 
by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the US Dollar and the 
foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

Fruitvest
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective 
and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the company has adopted 
the following standards and interpretations 
that are effective for the current financial 
year and that are relevant to its operations:

Presentation of Financial Statements: 
Disclosure initiative

The amendment clarifies and aligns the definition  
of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve 
consistency in the application of that concept 
whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.

The effective date of the amendment is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2020.

The company has adopted the amendment for the 
first time in the 2020 annual financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material. 
 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors: Disclosure initiative

The amendment clarify and align the definition  
of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve 
consistency in the application of that concept 
whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.

The effective date of the amendment is for years  
beginning on or after 01 January 2020.

The company has adopted the amendment for the 
first time in the 2020 annual financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The company has chosen not to early adopt the 
following standards and interpretations, which 
have been published and are mandatory for the 
company’s accounting periods beginning 
on or after 01 January 2021 or later periods: 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current - Amendment to IAS 1

The amendment changes the requirements  
to classify a liability as current or non-current.  
If an entity has the right at the end of the reporting 
period, to defer settlement of a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period, then the 
liability is classified as non-current. 

If this right is subject to conditions imposed on the 
entity, then the right only exists, if, at the end of the 
reporting period, the entity has complied with those 
conditions.

In addition, the classification is not affected by the 
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right  
to defer settlement. Therefore, if the right exists, 
the liability is classified as non-current even  
if management intends or expects to settle the 
liability within twelve months of the reporting 
period. Additional disclosures would be required 
in such circumstances. The effective date of the 
amendment is for years beginning on or after  
01 January 2022.

The company expects to adopt the amendment  
for the first time in the 2022 annual financial  
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have  
a material impact on the company’s annual  
financial statements.

Notes to the Annual 
Financial Statements
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Covid - 19 - Related Rent Concessions 
Amendment to IFRS 16

The covid 19 pandemic has resulted in an amendment 
to IFRS 16 Leases. Lessees may elect not to assess 
whether a rent concession that meets the conditions 
in paragraph 46B is a lease modification. If this 
election is applied, then any change in lease 
payments must be accounted for in the same way 
as a change would be accounted for it it were not  
a lease modification.

This practical expedient only applies to rent 
concessions occurring as a direct consequence 
of the covid-19 pandemic and only if:

^ the change in lease payments results in revised  
   consideration for the lease that is substantially 
   the same as, or less than, the consideration for   
   the lease immediately preceding the change;

^ any reduction in lease payment affects only 
   payments originally due on or before  
   30 June  2021 and

^ there is no substantive change to other terms 
    and conditions of the lease.

The effective date of the amendment is for years 
beginning on or after 01 June 2020.

The company expects to adopt the amendment  
for the first time in the 2021 annual financial  
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have  
a material impact on the company’s annual  
financial statements.

Gencor Ventures
The loan in AUD is unsecured, bears interest  
at 0.7% per annum and has no fixed terms of repayment.

- 992 335

Trakka Optics
The loan in AUD is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed 
terms of repayment.

- 139 020

Trakka Corp
The loan in AUD is unsecured, bears interest at 3% per annum 
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

1 868 780 423 485

Trakka Cyprus
The loan in EUR is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed 
terms of repayment.

37 891 -

Trakka Tech US
The loan in USD is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed 
terms of repayment.

506 823 669 769

2 413 494 2 224 609

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets - 992 335

Current assets 2 413 494 1 232 274

2 413 494 2 224 609

Loans receivable are presented at amortised cost, which is net of loss allowance, as follows:

3. Loans receivable
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Exposure to credit risk

Loans receivable inherently exposes the company  
to credit risk, being the risk that the company will 
incur financial loss ifcounterparties fail  to make 
payments as they fall due.

Loans receivable are subject to the impairment 
provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which 
requires a loss allowance to be recognised for all  
exposures to credit risk.  
 
The loss allowance for loans receivable is calculated 
based on twelve month expected losses if the credit 
risk has not increased significantly since initial  
recognition. 

In cases where the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the loss 
allowance is calculated based on lifetime expected  
credit losses.  
 
The loss allowance is updated to either twelve 
month or lifetime expected credit losses at each 
reporting date based on changes in the credit risk 
since initial recognition.  
 
If a loan is considered to have a low credit risk  
at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the 
credit risk has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition. On the other hand, 

if a loan is in arrears more than 90 days, then  
it is assumed that there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 
In determining the amount of expected credit 
losses, the company has taken into account any 
historic default experience, the financial positions 
of the counterparties as well as the future prospects 
in the industries in which the counterparties 
operate or are employed. 

This information has been obtained from the  
counterparties themselves, as well as from 
economic reports, financial analyst reports and 
various external sources of actual and forecast  
data and is applied to estimate a probability 
of default occurring as well as estimating the  
loss upon default. There has been no change in the 
estimation techniques or significant assumptions 
made during the current reporting period. The 
company does not hold collateral or other credit 
enhancements against loans receivable. 
 
Credit loss allowances

The following tables set out the carrying amount, 
loss allowance and measurement basis of expected 
credit losses for loans receivable by credit rating  
grade:

LivinnX Krakow

2020 Basis of loss 
allowance

Gross Carrying 
amount

Loss allowance Amortised cost

Instrument

Trakka Optics 12m ECL 177 044 (177 044)  -

Trakka Corp 12m ECL 1 868 780 - 1 868 780

Trakka Cyprus 12m ECL 37 891 - 37 891

Trakka Tech 12m ECL 506 823 - 506 823

2 590 538 (177 044) 2 413 494

2019 Basis of loss 
allowance

Gross Carrying 
amount

Amortised cost

Instrument

Gencor Ventures 12m ECL 992 335  992 335

Trakka Optics 12m ECL 139 020 139 020

Trakka Corp 12m ECL 423 485 423 485

Trakka Tech US 12m ECL 669 769 669 769

2 224 609 2 224 609

Exposure to currency risk

The company is exposed to currency risk related 
to certain loans receivable which are denominated 
in a foreign currency. Management has decided not 
to make use of foreign exchange contracts to hedge 
the risk.

There have been no significant changes in the 
foreign currency risk management policies and 
processes since the prior reporting period.
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Exposure to currency risk 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

US Dollar amount

AUD 1 868 780  1 554 839

USD 506 823 669 770

EUR 37 891 -

2 413 494 2 224 609

Designated at fair value through profit or loss: 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Tadvest SA 24 397 525 29 691 345

Trakka Group 9 044 068  8 489 842

Alaris 5 899 244 5 131 871

EPP 3 624 054 6 334 334

Alphamin 3 463 671 1 392 471

Tadvest Cyprus 3 158 086 1 318 392

Old Mutual Money Market Fund 2 769 237 4 305 581

Blackrock Liquidity Fund 2 002 155 -

Kemtek 583 924 1 025 643

Bounty Brands 73 785 71 582

Broadacres Development 1 1

55 015 750 57 761 062

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets 50 244 358 53 455 481

Current assets 4 771 392 4 305 581

55 015 750 57 761 062

Fair value of loans receivable

The fair value of loans receivable approximates their carrying amounts.

4. Investments at fair value

Alaris Holdings
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Reconciliation of investments  
at cost - 2020

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Total

Tadvest SA 13 440 601 - (3 000 761)  10 439 840

EPP 7 946 177 - - 7 946 177

Trakka Corp (Ord) 4 281 598 - - 4 281 598

Trakka Corp (Pref) 161 542 - - 161 542

Trakka Systems AB (Ord) 161 791 135 994 - 297 785

Trakka Systems AB (Pref) - 47 257 - 47 257

Trakka US 20 - - 20

Trakka Optics 22 - - 22

Alaris 4 788 256 700 548 - 5 488 804

Kemtek 1 937 681 - - 1 937 681

Bounty Brands 2 947 573 - - 2 947 573

Alphamin 2 160 000 - - 2 160 000

Tadvest Cyprus 1 311 475 1 678 205 - 2 989 680

Broadacres Development 1 - - 1

Old Mutual Money Market 3 928 923 2 435 000 (4 040 000) 2 323 923

Blackrock Liquidity Fund - 2 000 000 - 2 000 000

43 065 660 6 997 004 (7 040 761) 43 021 903

Reconciliation of investments  
at cost - 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Total

Tadvest SA 14 863 143 - (1 422 542) 13 440 601

EPP 7 946 177 - - 7 946 177

Trakka Corp (Ord) 4 281 598 - - 4 281 598

Trakka Corp (Pref) 161 542 - - 161 542

Trakka Systems AB 161 791 - - 161 791

Trakka US 20 - - 20

Trakka Optics 22 - - 22

Alaris - 4 788 256 - 4 788 256

Kemtek 1 937 681 - - 1 937 681

Bounty Brands 2 947 573 - - 2 947 573

Alphamin Resources 2 000 000 160 000 - 2 160 000

Broadacres Development 1 - - 1

Tadvest Cyprus - 1 311 475 - 1 311 475

Old Mutual Money Market 8 673 423 1 775 000 (6 520 000) 3 928 423

42 972 971 8 034 731 (7 942 542) 43 065 160
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Fair value of investments in local currency Share capital 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Tadvest SA ZAR  358 107 120 415 408 632

EPP (JSE) ZAR 13 287 009 22 016 638

EPP (LuxSE) EUR 2 224 811 4 244 634

Trakka Corp (Ord Share) AUD 5 901 086 6 319 693

Trakka Corp (Pref) AUD 218 182 218 182

Trakka Systems AB (Ord) AUD 5 566 692 5 560 094

Trakka Systems AB (Pref) AUD 68 467 -

Trakka US AUD 27 27

Trakka Optics AUD 30 30

Alaris ZAR 86 589 161 71 799 502

Kemtek ZAR 8 570 840 14 349 678

Bounty Brands GBP 53 996 53 996

Alphamin CAD 4 408 560 1 808 640

Tadvest Cyprus EUR 2 589 980 1 164 700

Broadacres Retreat ZAR 1 1

Currency 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

South African Rand 14,68 13,99

Euro 0,82 0,89

Pound Sterling 0,73 0,75

Australian Dollar 1,30 1,43

Canadian Dollar 1,27 1,30

Polish Zloty 4,55 3,79

Investment value

Non-current investments Component 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Tadvest SA Opening balance
Fair value
FX adjustment
Disposal
Total at Fair Value

 29 691 343
(331 534)

(1 961 523)
(3 000 761)
24 397 525

27 684 320
2 549 246

880 319
(1 422 542)
29 691 343

EPP Opening balance
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

6 334 335
(2 909 899)

199 618
3 624 054

6 767 445
(354 442)

(78 668)
6 334 335

Trakka Corp (Ordinary shares) Opening balance
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

4 434 872
(299 864)

405 372
4 540 380

4 075 152
362 484

(2 764)
4 434 872

Trakka Corp (Preference shares) Opening balance
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

153 109
14 763

167 872

153 752
(643)

153 109

Trakka Systems AB (ordinary) Opening balance
Additions
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

3 901 819
135 994

(136 414)
381 692

4 283 091

153 991
-

3 606 490
141 338

3 901 819

Trakka Systems AB (preference) Opening balance
Additions
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

-
47 257

5 422
52 679

-
-
-
-

Trakka US Opening balance
Total at Fair Value

19
19

19
19

Trakka Optics Opening balance
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

22
1

23

22
-

22

Trakka Tech US Opening balance
Additions
Total at Fair Value

-
1
1

-
-
-

Trakka Tech Asia Pacific Opening balance
Additions
Total at Fair Value

-
1
1

-
-
-

Alaris Opening balance
Additions
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

5 131 871
700 548
616 721

(549 896)
5 899 244

-
4 788 256

282 942
60 673

5 131 871

Kemtek Opening balance
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

1 025 644
(345 997)

(95 723)
583 924

1 355 814
(336 718)

6 548
1 025 644
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Investment value

Non-current investments Component 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Bounty Brands Opening balance
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

 71 583
-

2 202
73 785

1 505 602
(1 384 868)

(49 151)
71 583

Alphamin Resources Opening balance
Additions
Fair value
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

1 392 471
-

1 931 325
139 875

3 463 671

1 875 455
160 000

(760 782)
117 798

1 392 471

Broadacres Development Opening balance
Total at Fair Value

1
1

1
1

Trakka Corp (Preference shares) Opening balance
Additions
FX adjustment
Total at Fair Value

1 318 392
1 678 205

161 489
3 158 086

1 311 475
-

6 917
1 318 392

Total non-current
investments

50 244 356 53 455 481

Investment value

Non-current investments Component 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Old Mutual Money Market Opening balance
Additions
Fair value
Disposal
Total at Fair Value

 4 305 581
2 435 000

68 656
(4 040 000)

2 769 237

8 809 750
1 775 000

240 831
(6 520 000)

4 305 581

Blackrock Liquidity Fund Opening balance
Additions
Total at Fair Value

-
2 002 155
2 002 155

-
-
-

Total non-current
investments

4 771 392 4 305 581

5. Trade and other receivables

Financial instruments : 2020 2019

Trade receivables - 29 088

Non-financial instruments:

Prepayments 20 731 17 055

Total trade and other receivables 20 731 46 143

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 20 731 46 143

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other receivables

At amortised cost - 29 089

Non-financial instruments 20 731 17 055

20 731 46 144

US Dollar Amount 2020 2019

US Dollar - 29 088

Exposure to credit risk

Trade receivables inherently expose the company to credit risk, being the risk that the company will incur 
financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts.

Exposure to currency risk

The net carrying amounts, in US Dollar, of trade and other receivables, excluding non-financial instruments,  
are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in US Dollar by converting 
the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.
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Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past 
due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical  
information about counterparty default rates:

Exposure to currency risk

The company is exposed to currency risk related to certain bank accounts which are denominated  
in a foreign currency.

The net carrying amounts, in US Dollar, of cash and cash equivalents, are denominated in the following 
currencies. The amounts have been presented in US Dollar by converting the foreign currency amount 
at the closing rate at the reporting date.

7. Share Capital

Credit Rating 2020 2019

Baa2 118 599 168 354

Issued 2020 2019

Ordinary 42 881 201 42 881 201

US Dollar amount 2020 2019

US Dollar 103 586 143 603

Euro 5 569 3 359

ZAR 9 444 21 392

118 599 168 354

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 2020 2019

Bank balances 118 599 168 354

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Other income 114 882 -

Financial instruments 2020 2019

Trade payables - 2 775

Other payables 28 880 29 132

28 880 31 907

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other payables

At amortised 28 880 31 907

Fair value of trade and other payables

The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying amounts.

9. Net asset value per share

10. Revenue

11. Other operating income

8. Trade and other payables

US Dollar Amount 2020 2019

US Dollar 28 880 31 907

Net asset value per share has been based on the following : 2020 2019

Net asset value 57 539 694 60 168 261

Number of shares outstanding at year end 44 790 947 44 790 947

Net asset value per share 1,28 1,34

Revenue other than from contracts with customers 2020 2019

Dividends received 101 135 667 429

Exposure to currency risk

The net carrying amounts, in US Dollar, of trade and other payables, excluding non-financial instruments,  
are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in US Dollar by converting  
the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.
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Other foreign exchange gains 2020 2019

Net foreign exhange gains 313 197 37 066

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments at fair value (1 407 007) 4 205 184

Foreign exhange gains/(losses) on investments at fair value (1 296 710) 1 082 366

(2 703 717) 5 287 550

Total other gains (losses) (2 390 520) 5 324 616

13. Operating profit (loss)

Operating (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:

Auditor’s remuneration - external 2020 2019

Audit fees 32 765 20 649

Remuneration, other than to employees

Administrative and managerial services 22 825 28 545

Consulting and professional services 189 679 191 619

212 504 220 164

Employee costs 2020 2019

Directors fees 32 203 30 191

12. Other gains/(losses)

Interest income 2020 2019

Investments in financial assets:

Loans receivable at amortised cost 77 219 17 203

14. Investment income

15. Taxation

Major components of the tax expense 2020 2019

Current

Withholding tax - 101 363

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense

Accounting loss (2 628 569) 5 676 320

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 15% (2019: 15%) (394 285) 851 448

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Non-allowable expenses 479 175 44 872

Exempt income (558) (795 205)

Foreign tax credit (34 133) (101 115)

Non-taxable income (76 756) -

ECL provision 26 557 -

Withholding tax paid - 101 363

- 101 363
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Kemtek Imaging Systems

Earnings per share has been based on the following: 2020 2019

Profit for the year (2 628 569) 5 574 957

Weighted average number of shares 44 790 947 44 790 947

Earnings per share (0,06) 0,12

17. Cash used in operations

18. Tax paid

2020 2019

Loss before taxation (2 628 569) 5 676 320

Adjustments for:

Gains on foreign exchange - (37 065)

Dividends received (101 135) (667 429)

Interest income (77 219) (17 399)

Fair value losses (gains) 2 703 717 (5 287 551)

Exchange differences on loan receivable (154 830) 24 350

Adjustment - Tadvest Cyprus (6 988) -

ECL provision - Trakka Optics 177 044 -

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables 25 405 6 911

Trade and other payables (3 027) (410)

(65 602) (302 273)

2020 2019

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss - (101 363)

16. Earnings per share
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19. Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial assets

2020 Notes Fair value through profit or loss - Designated Amortised cost Total Fair Value

Loans receivable 3 - 2 413 494 2 413 494 2 413 494

Investments at fair value 4 55 015 743 - 55 015 743 55 015 743

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - 118 599 118 599 118 599

55 015 743 2 532 093 57 547 836 57 547 836

2019 Notes Fair value through profitor loss - Designated Amortised cost Total Fair Value

Loans receivable 3 - 2 224 609 2 224 609 2 224 609

Investments at fair value 4 57 761 062 - 57 761 062 57 761 062

Trade and other receivables 5 - 29 088 29 088 29 088

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - 168 354 168 354 168 354

57 761 062 2 422 051 60 183 113 60 183 113

Categories of financial liabilities

2020 Notes Amortised
cost

Total Fair Value

Trade and other payables 8 28 880 28 880 28 880

Categories of financial liabilities

2019 Notes Amortised
cost

Total Fair Value

Trade and other payables 8 31 907 31 907 31 907
Country Mushrooms
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Pre tax gains and losses on financial instruments

Gains and losses on financial assets

2020 Notes Fair value through profit or loss - Designated Amortised cost Total

Recognised in profit or loss:

Investments at fair value 14 - 77 219 77 219

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments 12 (2 703 717) - (2 703 717)

Recognised in other comprehensive income:

Other foreign exchange gains/(losses) 313 197 313 197

Net gains (losses) (2 390 520) 77 219 (2 313 301)

2019 Notes Fair value through profit
or loss - tDesignated

Amortised
cost

Total

Recognised in profit or loss:

Investments at fair value 14 - 17 203 17 203

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments 12 5 287 551 - 5 287 551

Recognised in other comprehensive income:

Other foreign exchange gains/(losses) 37 066 - 37 066

Net gains (losses) 5 324 617 17 203 5 341 820

Capital risk management

The company’s objective when managing capital 
(which includes share capital, borrowings,  
working capital and cash and cash equivalents) 
is to maintain a flexible capital structure that 
reduces the cost of capital to an acceptable level 
of risk and to safeguard the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern while taking 
advantage of strategic opportunities in order 
to maximise stakeholder returns sustainably.

The company manages capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in light of changes  
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics 
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain the 
capital structure, the company may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to the shareholders, 
return capital to the shareholders, repurchase 
shares currently issued, issue new shares, 
issue new debt, issue new debt to replace 
existing debt with different characteristics 
and/or sell assets to reduce debt.

2020 2019

Trade and other payables 8 28 880 31 907

Cash and cash equivalents 6 (118 599) (168 354)

Net borrowings (89 719) (136 447)

Equity 57 539 694 60 168 262
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Overview

The company is exposed to the following risks  
from its use of financial instruments:

^ Credit risk;

^ Liquidity risk; and

^ Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk  
   and price risk).

The directors has overall responsibility for the  
establishment and oversight of the company’s  
risk management framework. The board has  
established the risk committee, which  
is responsible for developing and monitoring  
the company’s risk management policies.  
The committee reports quarterly to the directors 
on its activities.

The company’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the company, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence  
to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the company’s activities.

Financial risk 
management

LivinnX Krakow

The company audit committee oversees how 
management monitors compliance with the risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the company.  
 
The audit committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are 
reported to the audit committee and the risk  
committee. 
 
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the 
company if a customer or counterparty  
to a financial instrument fails to meet  
its contractual obligations.

The company is exposed to credit risk on loans  
receivable, trade and other receivables and cash 

and cash equivalents. 

Credit risk for exposures other than those arising 
on cash and cash equivalents, are managed 
by making use of credit approvals, limits and 
monitoring. The company only deals with reputable  
counterparties with consistent payment histories.
Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also 
obtained when necessary. Each counterparty  
is analysed individually for creditworthiness before 
terms and conditions are offered. The analysis  
involves making use of information submitted  
by the counterparties as well as external bureau  
data (where available). Counterparty credit limits 
are in place and are reviewed and approved  
by credit management committees. The exposure  
to credit risk and the creditworthiness  
of counterparties is continuously monitored.

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash  
equivalents is managed by the group through 
dealing with well-established financial institutions 
with high credit ratings.

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses 
are recognised for all debt instruments, but  
excluding those measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. Credit loss allowances are also 
recognised for loan commitments and financial 
guarantee contracts.

In order to calculate credit loss allowances, 
management determine whether the loss 
allowances should be calculated on a 12 month 
or on a lifetime expected credit loss basis. This  
determination depends on whether there has  
been a significant increase in the credit risk since 
initial recognition. 

If there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk, then the loss allowance is calculated based 
on lifetime expected credit losses. If not, then the  
loss allowance is based on 12 month expected 
credit losses. This determination is made at the 
end of each financial period. Thus the basis of the 
loss allowance for a specific financial asset  
could change year on year.

Management apply the principle that if a financial 
asset’s credit risk is low at year end, then,  
by implication, the credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition. In all such 
cases, the loss allowance is based on 12 month 
expected credit losses. Credit risk is assessed  
as low if there is a low risk of default (where  
default is defined as occurring when amounts are 
90 days past due). When determining the risk  
of default, management consider information 
such as payment history to date, industry in which 
the customer is employed, period for which the 
customer has been employed, external credit 
references etc. In any event, if amounts are  
30 days past due, then the credit risk is assumed 
to have increased significantly since initial 
recognition. Credit risk is not assessed to be low 
simply because of the value of collateral associated 
with a financial instrument. If the instrument would 
not have a low credit risk in the absence  
of collateral, then the credit risk is not  
considered low when taking the collateral into 
account. Trade receivable and contract assets 
which do not contain a significant financing  
component are the exceptions and are discussed 
below.

Where necessary, the assessment for a significant  
increase in credit risk is made on a collective basis.  
Management typically adopt this approach when 
information relevant to the determination of credit 
risk is not available on an individual instrument  
level. Often, the only information available  
on individual instruments which could indicate  
an increase in credit risk, is “past due” information.  
It is typical that more forward-looking information 
is generally more readily available on a collective 
basis.

Therefore, making the determination on a collective 
basis, helps to ensure that credit loss allowances 
are determined on the basis of lifetime expected 
credit losses before they reach the point of being 
past due. Forward looking, macro-economic 
information is applied on a collective basis when 
it is readily available without undue cost or effort. 
When loss allowances are determined on a collective  
basis, management determines the loss allowances 
by grouping financial instruments on the basis 
of shared credit risk characteristics.
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The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is presented in the table below:

2020

Notes Gross carrying
amount

Credit loss
allowance

Amortised
cost / fair value

Loans receivable 3 2 590 538 (177 044) 2 413 494

Investments at fair value through 
profit or loss

4 55 015 743 - 55 015 743

Trade and other receivables 5 - - -

Cash and cash equivalents 6 118 599 - 118 599

57 724 880 (177 044) 57 547 836

The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is presented in the table below:

2019

Notes Gross carrying 
amount

Credit loss
allowance

Amortised
cost / fairvalue

Loans receivable 3 2 224 609 - 2 224 609

Investments at fair value through 
profit or loss

4 57 761 062 - 57 761 062

Trade and other receivables 5 29 088 - 29 088

Cash and cash equivalents 6 168 354 - 168 354

60 183 113 - 60 183 113

For trade receivables and contract assets which 
do not contain a significant financing component, 
the loss allowance is determined as the lifetime 
expected credit losses of the instruments. For all 
other trade receivables, contract assets and lease 
receivables, IFRS 9 permits the determination  
of the credit loss allowance by either determining 
whether there was a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition or by always making 
use of lifetime expected credit losses. Management 
have chosen as an accounting policy, to make use 
of lifetime expected credit losses. Management 
does therefore not make the annual assessment 
of whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition for trade 
receivables, contract assets or lease receivables.

Amounts are presented at amortised cost or fair 
value depending on the accounting treatment of the  
item presented. 

The gross carrying amount for debt instruments 
at fair value through oci is equal to the fair value 
because the credit loss allowance does not reduce 
the carrying amount. The credit loss allowance 
is only shown for disclosure purposes. 

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
do not include a loss allowance. The fair value 
is therefore equal to the gross carrying amount.

EPP
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Liquidity risk

The company is exposed to liquidity risk, which 
is the risk that the company will encounter 
difficulties in meeting its obligations as they 
become due.

The company manages its liquidity risk  
by effectively managing its working capital, 
capital expenditure and cash flows. 

The financing requirements are met through 
a mixture of cash generated from operations 
and long and short term borrowings.

Committed borrowing facilities are available 
for meeting liquidity requirements and deposits 
are held at central banking institutions.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows  
of non-derivative financial liabilities, and 
financial assets held to mitigate the risk, are 
presented in the following table. The cash flows 
are undiscounted contractual amounts.

Figures in US Dollars 2020 2019

2020 Less than
1 year

Total Carrying
amount

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 28 880 28 880 28 880

Figures in US Dollars 2020 2019

2019 Less than
1 year

Total Carrying
amount

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 31 907 31907 31907

Foreign currency risk

The company is exposed to foreign currency 
risk as a result of certain transactions and 
borrowings which are denominated in foreign 
currencies. Exchange rate exposures are 
managed within approved policy parameters 
utilising foreign forward exchange contracts 
where necessary. The foreign currencies 
in which the company deals primarily are 
US Dollars, Euros and Australian Dollars.

The company has certain investments in foreign 
operations, whose net assets are exposed  
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency 
exposure arising from the net assets of the 
company’s foreign operations is managed 
primarily through borrowings denominated 
in the relevant foreign currencies.

There have been no significant changes in the 
foreign currency risk management policies and 
processes since the prior reporting period.

Exposure in foreign currency amounts

The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:

Assets:

Current liabilities

South African Rand 31 785 926 37 443 890

Australian Dollar 10 912 847 10 044 685

US Dollar 5 417 546 4 495 326

Euro 5 914 799 6 752 214

Canadian Dollar 3 463 671 1 392 472

Pound Sterling 73 785 71 582

Liabilities 2020 2019

USD (28 880) (31 907)

57 539 694 60 168 262
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Exchange rates 2020 2019

Foreign currency per US Dollar

South African Rand 14,678 13,991

Euro 0,818 0,892

Pound Sterling 0,732 0,754

Australian Dollar 1,299 1,425

Canadian Dollar 1,273  1,299

Related party balances 2020 2019

Loan accounts - Owing (to) by related parties

Trakka Group 2 552 647 2 224 640

Related party transactions

Administration fees paid to (received from) related parties

Safyr Utilis Funds Services 32 825 39 545

Compensation to directors and other key management

Directors fees 32 203 30 191

20. Related parties

Relationships

21. Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined  
as follows: 

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company  
                can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability 
                either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Level 1

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets Notes 2020 2019

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit (loss) 4

Listed shares 12 986 968 12 858 678

Total 12 986 968 12 858 678

Level 2

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets Notes 2020 2019

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit (loss) 4

Unlisted shares 14 473 170 13 892 650

Total 14 473 170 13 892 650

Level 3

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets Notes 2020 2019

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit (loss) 4

Unlisted shares 27 555 611 31 009 735

Total 27 555 611 31 009 735

Levels of fair value measurements
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Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at level 3

2020

Assets Notes Opening
balance

Additions Fair value
adjustment

Disposals Transfers out
of level 3

Closing
balance

Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

Unlisted shares 4 31 009 635 1 678 205 (2 131 568) (3 000 761) - 27 555 511

Total 31 009 635 1 678 205 (2 131 568) (3 000 761) - 27 555 511

2019

Assets

Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

Unlisted shares 4 32 067 257 1 311 475 7 543 387 (1 422 542) (8 489 842) 31 009 735

Total 32 067 257 1 311 475 7 543 387 (1 422 542) (8 489 842) 31 009 735

The fair value of private equity investment  
is performed by the company’s investment  
advisors and directors,on an annual basis. 
The valuation reports are discussed with the  
Audit and Risk Committee in accordance with  
the Company’s reporting policies.

22. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been  
prepared on the basis of accounting policies 
applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes 
that funds will be available to finance future  
operations and that the realisation of assets and  
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and  
commitments will occur in the ordinary course  
of business. The ability of the company to continue 
as a going concern is dependent on a number  
of factors. The most significant of these is that the  
directors continue to procure funding for the 
ongoing operations for the company.

23. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end and through the date  
on which the financial statements were authorised 
for issue, the Board evaluated that there were 
no events after the reporting period that require 
disclosure in these financial statements. The Board 
would like to however note that the gain, between 
year end and the issuance of these financial 
statements, in the value of the investments at fair 
value was USD 1.975m. 

The Board is also aware of the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic and does not believe it necessary  
to make any further adjustments or disclosures 
in the financial statements. The Board has also 
reviewed the Company’s latest cashflow forecast 
and determined there is no immediate concern 
around the going concern assumption of the 
Company.

The directors are not aware of any other material 
event which occurred after the reporting date and 
up to the date of this report.

Alaris Holdings
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Revenue Notes 2020 2019

Dividends received 101 135 667 429

Other operating income

Other income 114 882 -

Other gains/(losses)

Other foreign exchange gains/(losses) 313 197 37 066

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments (2 703 717) 5 287 550

(2 390 520) 5 324 616

Operating expenses

Accounting fees 10 000 11 000

Administration fees 22 825 28 545

Auditors remuneration 13 32 765 20 649

Bank charges 3 552 6 939

Brokerage fees 7 800  25 840

Directors fees 32 203 30 191

Insurance 6 026 5 500

License fees 2 400 2 300

Listing fees 12 366 14 034

Other expenses 217 931 -

Professional fees 179 679 180 619

Publication fees 3 738 7 311

531 285 332 928

Operating (loss)/profit 13 (2 705 788) 5 659 117

Investment income 14 77 219 17 203

(Loss)/profit before taxation (2 628 569) 5 676 320

Taxation 15 - (101 363)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (2 628 569) 5 574 957

Detailed Income Statement

Alphamin Resources
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